VOLUME 7 | ISSUE 2 | 2025

ISSN 2642-3669

Adult Literacy Education

The International Journal of Literacy, Language, and Numeracy



Adult Literacy Education:

The International Journal of Literacy, Language, and Numeracy

Adult Literacy Education is published three a year by by ProLiteracy in partnership with Rutgers University.

CO-EDITORS:

Alisa Belzer Rutgers University

Amy D. Rose Northern Illinois University

Heather A. Brown

GUEST EDITOR:

Maricel G. Santos, San Francisco State University

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT:

Andrew Curtis Rutgers University

BOOK REVIEW EDITOR:

Daphne Greenberg Georgia State University

RESOURCE REVIEW EDITOR: Susan Finn Miller LLIU13 Community Education

TECHNOLOGY AND ADULT LEARNING

Vi Hawes

VH Ed Tech Consulting, LLC & Pima Community College

STAFF:

Lauren Osowski Project Manager

Cathi Miller Graphic Designer

Manuscripts should be submitted directly to the Journal through the online submission platform which can be found at: https://proliteracy.org/ ALE-Journal. Full details, and author guidelines can be found online.

Copyright Permission:

Permission request to photocopy or otherwise reproduce material published in this journal should be submitted to ProLiteracy at ALEJournal@ProLiteracy.org. Sonya L. Armstrong Texas State University

Hal Beder Rutgers University (Emeritus)

> **Jim Berger** Georgia College

Sondra Cuban Western Washington University

Sam Duncan UCL Institute of Education, Department of Education, Practice and Society

Aydin Yücesan Durgunoglu University of Minnesota Duluth

Susan Finn Miller LLIU13 Community Education

Elisabeth Gee Arizona State University

Gabrielle Gerhard Seattle Central College & Curriculum Research Group

Lynda Ginsburg Rutgers University (retired)

Daphne Greenberg Georgia State University

Anke Grotlüschen Hamburg University

Allan G. Harbaugh-Schattenkirk Longwood University

Tom Heaney Rutgers University

Bob Hughes Seattle University **Erik Jacobson** Montclair State University

CONSULTING EDITORS:

Anna Kaiper-Marquez Pennsylvania State University

> **Clarena Larrotta** Texas State University

Sasha V. Lotas Academy of Hope Adult Public Charter School

Larry G. Martin University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

> J. Ryan Monroe US Peace Corps

Ron Mottern Ashford University

Bill Muth Virginia Commonwealth University

Richard Orem Northern Illinois University

Margaret Becker Patterson Research Allies for Lifelong Learning

> Amy Pickard Indiana University Bloomington

Esther Prins Pennsylvania State University

John Rachal The University of Southern Mississippi (retired)

Stephen Reder Portland State University

David J. Rosen Newsome Associates **Elizabeth A. Roumell** Texas A & M University

Leah Katherine Saal Loyola University MD

John Sabatini IIS/University of Memphis

Steven W. Schmidt East Carolina University

Joni Schwartz CUNY La Guardia Community College

Ellen Scully-Russ The George Washington University

Ralf St. Clair University of Victoria

Karin Sprow Forté Penn State Harrisburg

> **Nicole Taylor** Spelman College

Lyn Tett Huddersfield University

> Amy Trawick CALLA

Jenifer Vanek World Education

JoAnn Weinberger Center for Literacy (retired)

Jeff Zacharakis Kansas State University

MISSION STATEMENT The journal's mission is to publish research on adult basic and secondary education and

transitions to college and career programs. It informs practitioners, researchers, policy

makers, and funders about best practices in adult literacy, numeracy, and English language

education in publicly funded, community and volunteer-based programs in a wide range of contexts. Each issue will consist of research articles focused on a particular theme plus

other content of interest to readers (e.g., resource reviews, opinion pieces, and debates

and discussions on timely topics of interest to the field).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Research Articles

Promoting Health Literacy Among Migrant Populations: Implications for Adult Literacy Education
Alimatou Sarr, Ari Alnimr, Farah Alasbahi, Stefanie Harsch, and Emily Feuerherm
Empowering Refugees and Immigrants Through Transformational Home Language Health Education 18 Lindsay McHolme and Iris Feinberg
Report from the Field
ELAA Med+: Using a Mock Patient Portal to Address Digital and Health Literacy in a Community-Based Adult ESOL Program
Forum: English Language Learners and Health Literacy
Reflections on "Good" Language Learners, "Good" Patients, and Language 39 Maricel G. Santos
Response to Santos' "Reflections on 'Good' Language Learners, 'Good' Patients, and Language" 46 Richard Orem
Health Literacy Access: A Shared Responsibility 50 Clarena Larrotta
Research Digest
Digital Literacies for Digital Health Realities
Book Review
<i>Career Pathways in Adult Education: Perspectives and Opportunities</i>
Resource Review
abc English 62 Reviewed by Andrea Echelberger
Technology and Adult Learning
ReadWorks: Unlocking Literacy for Adult Learners 65 Vi Hawes, VH Ed Tech Consulting, LLC & Pima Community College

Research Article

Promoting Health Literacy Among Migrant Populations: Implications for Adult Literacy Education

Alimatou Sarr, University of Michigan-Flint Ari Alnimr, University of Michigan-Flint Farah Alasbahi, University of Michigan-Flint Stefanie Harsch, University of Education Freiburg Emily Feuerherm, University of Michigan-Flint

Abstract

In the 21st century, individuals – particularly migrant populations – require a range of skills to adapt to new circumstances, cope with change, and lead fulfilling lives. To effectively achieve this, good health literacy is beneficial and adult basic education is an ideal setting to promote health literacy among migrant populations. There is great diversity in the published literature around health literacy interventions for migrants globally, including specific regional contexts, target migrant populations, various health topics, and multiple intervention structures. These levels of diversity make it challenging to synthesize what is known about the health literacy needs of global migrant populations and the pedagogical effectiveness of the interventions that aim to promote health literacy. To understand this diversity we conducted a scoping review in the migrant health literacy intervention literature. We analyzed the articles according to the contexts and structures of the interventions, whether they employed formal, non-formal, or informal learning approaches, and whether they describe the linguistic and pedagogical features of the interventions. From this analysis, we derived recommendations for the planning and reporting of migrant health literacy interventions to fill in the gaps.

Note: Financial support came from UM-Flint's Undergraduate Research Opportunity Fund.

Keywords: health literacy, migration, scoping study, educational intervention

The intersection of migration and health literacy (HL) is a critical area of inquiry with profound implications for individuals, communities, and societies at large. Over the past several years, the confluence of the global pandemic, climate change, political violence, and humanitarian crises has resulted in mass displacement, driving millions of people to leave their homes and seek refuge and resettlement elsewhere (Hattem, 2024). Within this context, the need to promote the HL levels of migrants, defined by the International Organization

for Migration (IOM, 2019) as "a person who moves away from his or her place of usual residence, whether within a country or across an international border, temporarily or permanently, and for a variety of reasons" (n.p.), which can include refugees, asylum seekers, and both permanent and temporary migrants, has become increasingly urgent to facilitate integration and adaptation, and mitigate disparities in health care outcomes (Fox et al., 2022).

The number of HL interventions focused on migrant

populations has increased in recent decades, in a variety of settings including clinics, resettlement agencies, adult education programs, and community centers (e.g., Harsch & Bittlingmayer, 2024). Despite this proliferation, we lack a clear understanding of the range of educational approaches used in these HL interventions, and the extent to which the educational approaches meet the particular needs of a migrant community.

As an interdisciplinary research team with backgrounds in linguistics, adult education, and public health, we recognize that adult educators are in a key position to facilitate HL education that supports migrant communities. This article is a scoping review of published migrant HL interventions globally and uses this data to develop and discuss recommendations for planning and implementing HL interventions for migrants. We underscore the importance of migrant health literacy and show why it is important to contextualize this work according to local needs. In other words, who we teach, what we teach, and where we teach matter. We describe the process and findings from the scoping review, focusing especially on how the fields of adult education and linguistics can add to the rigor of migrant HL intervention research. We focus on migrant HL not only because numerous studies have shown that migrants often have low levels of HL, but also because of the increase in migration worldwide. According to the IOM (2021), 281 million people migrated across international borders in 2020. That amounts to about 3.6% of the world's population and that percentage has been growing each year since the IOM started producing the world migration reports in 2000. Additionally, studies have shown that migrants experience disproportionately greater health disparities than other social groups. In response, public education and health systems must coordinate their efforts to address the HL needs of migrant communities and ensure high-quality interventions (Kickbusch et al., 2013; Rudd et al., 2015). Findings from previous literature reviews are constrained either by limiting the target language to English (Chen et al., 2015) or limiting to only randomized controlled trials (Fox et al., 2022). This scoping review casts a wider net to include any target language and any research method analyzing empirical data about a migrant HL intervention.

We follow the World Health Organization's (WHO, 2021) definition of HL as "the personal knowledge

and competencies (...) that enable people to access, understand, appraise and use information and services in ways that promote and maintain good health and wellbeing for themselves and those around them" (p.6.). While adult education is a strategic context to advance the HL of migrants, many HL interventions for migrants occur outside of traditional adult education classes – in community centers, places of worship, clinics, and online. In this contextual diversity, we see the promise of Reder's (2015) "busy intersections" view of teaching adult literacy which emphasizes meeting learners where they are and giving them ample opportunities to link new skills/ knowledge and real-world practices.

Adult educators' pedagogical expertise and the contextualized instruction they provide may already be harnessed in the HL literature to some extent, but how is it described and where is the cross-disciplinary overlap? Applied linguistics and public health have a parallel history of evolution that has guided both towards whole-person and systemic orientations to the field. Studies of language acquisition have moved toward understanding emergent multilingualism through translanguaging (e.g., Canagarajah, 2013), with acknowledgement of the resources learners use in and outside of class as they navigate multiple languages. Similarly, health fields have been evolving to include more patient-centered objectives and a greater understanding of the social determinants of health (e.g., Schillinger, 2021). So, how are these trends and other theories of learning - such as adult learning theories described by Knowles or Freire (Freire, 1970/2005; Knowles et al., 2020) or language learning theories like interactionist or cognitive theories - integrated into HL interventions for migrants?

The disciplinary differences are one piece of the puzzle when trying to capture a global understanding of migrant HL interventions. Teachers of multilingual adults have been integrating health topics and teaching HL as a regular part of their job, and the field of education has many learning theories that undergird these practices (Sarkar et al., 2019; Schecter & Lynch 2011). We want to look at the ways that diversity is captured and how local interventions situate themselves in larger theoretical frameworks through their reports in academic publications. Although much is known about HL for migrants, generalizable findings remain elusive and complicated by a lack of clarity and consistency in reporting practices. We set out to review the academic literature on studies of HL interventions for migrants which address HL and/or embed their work in HL debates explicitly. We systematically identified articles that promote migrant HL from academic databases. In analyzing these articles, we explore four research questions:

- 1. What are the general characteristics of interventions that promote migrant HL?
- 2. What are the most commonly used categories of learning approaches to promote migrant HL?
- 3. How do these articles describe the linguistic features of their target migrant populations and their sociolinguistic contexts?
- 4. How do these articles describe the pedagogical approaches and characteristics of the interventions?

Methodology

We followed Arksey and O'Malley's (2005) five steps for conducting a scoping study: (1) identifying the research question; (2) identifying the relevant studies; (3) selecting the studies; (4) charting data; and (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting results. Step 1 is outlined in the introduction. We describe steps 2 to 4 in the methods section, while step 5 is discussed in the findings and discussion sections.

Identifying and Selecting Relevant Studies

To identify relevant studies, we searched six academic databases: Medline, APA PsycINFO, ERIC, Academic Search Premier, Open Dissertations, and Education Source in October 2022. We followed the Joanna Briggs Institute's PCC (population, concept, and context) recommendations of search string generation (2015) using "migrants" and its synonyms (i.e. refugee, asylee, asylum seeker, immigrant) for population, "health literacy" for concept, and synonyms for "intervention" (i.e program, patient education, training, education, course) as context. Although we only used these search terms in English, we did not limit our search to articles written in English, but included articles written in any language that the research team was proficient in, including English, Spanish, French, and German. We did not limit our results to a specific time period. We

acknowledge that the concept of health literacy is used in a variety of ways and signaled by terms such as health information, knowledge, skills, and use. Nevertheless, we opted not to explore alternative terms as synonyms, but rather to adhere to the original wording, thus focusing exclusively on research that aligns with the health literacy discourse. This approach obviates the necessity for interpretative determinations concerning the definition of health literacy.

This search yielded 726 articles. After removing duplicate articles and screening according to our criteria, 53 articles remained (Supplement A). The full process is summarized in Figure 1.

FIGURE 1: PRISMA Flow Chart



For more information, visit: <u>http://www.prisma-statement.org/</u>

Charting the Data

We developed a coding scheme for extracting and analysing data, including article details, general information (e.g., country, target group), general features (e.g., HL definition, language(s), partnership), characteristics of the intervention (e.g., provider, context, topic), and evaluation of the intervention (e.g., study design, research method, evaluation design and outcomes) (Alasbahi 2024; Alnimr & Feuerherm 2023; Sarr 2023). We categorized the health topics in the HL interventions according to categories used in the National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy (NCSALL) HL study circles: preventing disease and promoting health, navigating health systems, managing chronic diseases, and empowering for health (Rudd et al., 2005).

To describe the educational approaches in the studies, we categorized articles based on the following three approaches to learning (Johnson & Majewska, 2022).

- **Formal**: Learning occurs in a traditional classroom environment focused on organized learning (i.e. structured curriculum with linear objectives, assessments, and includes a mandated dimension or certificate).
- **Non-Formal**: Learning occurs outside of a school but is intentional. Non-formal learning is organized with consideration for the learner's needs and expectations and may include a curriculum and assessments.
- **Informal**: Learning occurs outside of a traditional learning environment and is not structured by a curriculum, nor is it mandated. The focus is not on learning intentionally, rather learning is incidental and arises from involvement in activities.

To explore how the sociolinguistic features are reported in the study sample, we adapted Surrain and Luk's (2019) coding scheme for examining how bilingualism is operationalized in studies comparing monolinguals to bilinguals. Thus, we coded for the presence/absence of reported features including home language use, language(s) of instruction, participants' history of language learning, and the community's sociolinguistic contexts (Table 1). We added new codes to inventory the tools used to assess language proficiency and HL levels.

Additionally, we coded for the presence/absence of six features of pedagogical rationale/design: adult learning theories, language learning theories, communicative competence, scaffolding, a feedback loop for assessment, and cultural adaptation (Table 2). Our goal was to understand whether these six features were being reported, not whether specific theories and pedagogies were most prevalent. We were interested in whether there was any reporting about the theoretical grounding in adult learning or language learning theories because of its value in describing and understanding practice. We looked for reports of developing skills in communicative competence, including the reporting on language forms, social interactions, language for different purposes, and strategies that are important for effective communication in a target language (for example, see the discussion of communicative interactions in Soto Mas et al., 2015). We explored whether articles incorporated practices such as scaffolding (Walqui & Van Lier, 2010), where the intervention intentionally built upon existing knowledge with supported practice. For assessments, Surrain and Luk's coding system marked the type of assessment (subjective or objective), but we added a code to identify whether a feedback loop was included for assessment because this is an important component for adult learners' knowledge, skills, and situated literacy (Purcell-Gates et al., 2012). Lastly, we investigated whether linguistic and/or cultural adaptations were reported. Cultural adaptations were for example how culturally sensitive issues were addressed through the interventions while linguistic adaptations could be using plain language and/or translations (for more, see Kreuter & McClure, 2004; Parrish, 2019).

Three research assistants individually coded each article, yielding a database of qualitative and quantitative data. Coding discrepancies were resolved through meetings with the entire research team.

Findings

This section presents the main findings of the four research questions, including the general characteristics, learning approaches, and linguistic and pedagogical features.

General Characteristics

When and Where Were the Interventions Conducted?

The articles described interventions from several nations, mapped in Figure 2. Over half of the interventions were based in the United States and Australia.



FIGURE 2: Map of intervention distribution (own figure, created with mapchart.net)

Interventions occurred in several types of locations, including classrooms in formal education settings (n=11), clinics (e.g., hospitals or doctor's offices, n=5), community (e.g., in religious, non-profit, and cultural organizations, n=30), online or through other media (e.g., flyers, apps, n=5), and in professional development training (n=2).

All but three of the 53 studies were conducted after 2010, pointing to the increasing awareness of HL interventions for migrants in the literature over time but also to the increasing use of "health literacy" as an outcome for health education (Nutbeam, 2000). 2010 is also relevant because it is the year the United States instituted the National Action Plan to Improve HL, bringing HL "to a tipping point-that is, poised to make the transition from the margins to the mainstream" (Koh et al., 2012, p. 434).

Who is Involved in the Interventions?

The target populations of the interventions were migrants, health and education professionals in a position to improve migrants' HL, or a combination of both. Although in the minority, interventions targeting health/ education professionals were an important contribution because these studies demonstrated the recognition of organizational HL. According to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "organizational health literacy is the degree to which organizations equitably enable individuals to find, understand, and use information and services to inform health-related decisions and actions for themselves and others" (2023, n.p.). The move away from only recognizing personal health literacy is important because it distributes the communicative burden to both the health provider and the patient.

In some cases, migrants were differentiated by immigration status, such as for those interventions targeting refugees. In other cases, additional identifying factors such as gender, age, country of origin, language(s) spoken or role in the family were relevant and connected to the intervention's outcomes, community partners, or health topics. For example, Kagawa-Singer et al. (2009) focused on Hmong women, Valenzuela-Araujo et al. (2021) focused on Latino immigrant parents, and Kim et al. (2020) addressed Korean immigrants with Type 2 diabetes. In some cases, migrants were referred to as *limited English proficient (LEP)* instead of using asset-based identifiers (for more on this, see Feuerherm & McIntosh, 2023).

The intervention providers included adult educators (n=5), a partnership between an adult educator and a health partner (n=1), health professionals (n=12), multi-sectoral

(e.g., community partner with other stakeholders; n=15), university researchers (n=7), community based workers (e.g., "peer educators," "gatekeepers," "promotoras"; n=7), and unknown/not reported (n=6). Adult educators have been teaching HL before formal policies guiding HL interventions were established. However, the fact that our corpus of studies did not have adult educators as the top provider of HL interventions reflects the reality of the work of educators - they prioritize teaching and directly engaging with learners over publishing research, which likely contributes to their underrepresentation in academic literature on the subject. Additionally, adult educators are not experts in HL which points to the importance of multidisciplinary collaboration. Of the adult educator interventions, all but one took place in a formal, classroom setting (Supplement B).

What Topics are the Focus of the Interventions?

There were a broad range of health topics covered in the interventions. The NCSALL categories can help to focus the intervention protocol on the desired outcomes.

The topics included:

- Preventing disease and promoting health (n=35: including mental health n=12, cancer screenings n=4, reproductive and sexual health n=3, personal health and risk factors n=5, parental health n=2, oral health n=2, or general HL n=7)
- Navigating health systems (*n*=9)
- Managing chronic disease (such as hepatitis B and diabetes, *n*=6)
- Empowering for health (such as advocating for equitable health access, *n*=3)

A comparative analysis of the provider and the topic revealed notable discrepancies between adult educators and health professionals. Of the adult educator interventions, five targeted disease prevention/health promotion and one targeted health empowerment. All chronic disease management interventions were provided by health professionals or they were multisectoral (Supplement C).

Formal, Non-Formal, and Informal Learning Approaches

The categories of learning occurred in formal (*n*=11),

non-formal (*n*=27), informal (*n*=9), or a biphasic nonformal/informal (*n*=6) learning approach. In the biphasic interventions participants were trained through a nonformal approach (phase 1) to offer HL training to their communities using informal learning approaches (phase 2). For example, Choi (2017) trained bilingual gatekeepers in mental health (non-formal) who then visited clients in their homes to provide mental health services (informal).

Formal learning always occurred in a classroom context, but providers included adult educators, adult educators and health professionals, university faculty, and unknown. All non-formal learning occurred in the community. Informal learning approaches were mostly multisectoral and included online/media contexts as well as community locations (Supplement B).

Adult educators and university-based providers also worked in non-formal settings, demonstrating the breadth of work and collaboration they are involved in. As will be discussed in the following sections, formal learning interventions set themselves apart in some ways when reporting on languages and pedagogy, but the interventions as a whole displayed great variability in how they reported on their linguistic and educational approaches.

Linguistic Features

This section describes learners' target language acquisition (history, assessment, and use), and the larger sociolinguistic context by using the coding system established by Surrain and Luk (2019). Table 1 summarizes our findings.

Only five interventions used an objective assessment of language proficiency, which are not the same as HL assessments. Of the interventions, 21 used an HL assessment (the most commonly used being TOFHLA, both short and long versions). More than half of the interventions reported a subjective assessment of the language proficiency of the learners. While interventions that were classified as formal learning did better at reporting language proficiency than either non-formal or informal learning, three of the 11 formal learning approaches lacked any language proficiency assessment.

The majority (60.4%) of the articles did not explicitly report on home language usage, and only one study discussed home language use proportionately to other languages. This feature (like the feature for language history) seems of great importance to cognitive studies of bilingualism, perhaps more than for HL interventions. Nevertheless, how much and for what purpose learners use the target language is important when teaching (Menard-Warwick, 2009), especially because it connects to their real lives and improves literacy (Condelli & Spruck Wrigley, 2006).

The school language (language of intervention) was widely reported; only five interventions did not explicitly name the language of instruction. One of those that was coded as not naming the language of instruction was Martin et al. (2018), though because English is the majority language, the reader may assume that the language of instruction is English. It was less common to use just a single language in a HL intervention: only 14 of the interventions used a single language of instruction, while 37 used multiple languages or translations (Supplement D, Table 2).

Language history was not reported in the articles. This may be because of the different purposes this coding scheme was developed, compared to how we use it here. Surrain and Luk (2019) reviewed articles comparing monolingual and bilingual speakers, while our scoping study focuses on HL interventions for migrants. More specifically, Surrain and Luk's (2019) study was focused on bilingualism as a cognitive skill developed over time, whereas the focus of HL interventions is on health knowledge, behaviors, and empowerment.

Sociolinguistic context was reported if the articles included

LINGUISTIC FEATURES OF STUDY PARTICIPANTS					
Feature	Data	#	%		
Characteristics of the Interventions					
PROFICIENCY: Do I know the language proficiency of the participants?	Not Reported = 0	20	37.7%		
	Subjective Assessment = 1	28	52.8%		
	Objective Assessment = 2	1	1.9%		
	Both Subjective and Objective = 3	4	7.5%		
HOME LANGUAGE USAGE: Do I know which language(s) are spoken at home?	Not Reported = 0	32	60.4%		
	Categorical (What languages are used) = 1	20	37.7%		
	Gradient (Proportionality of language use) = 2	1	1.9%		
SCHOOL LANGUAGE: Do I know what the language of instruction is? ¹	Not Reported = 0	5	9.4%		
	Reported = 1	48	90.6%		
LANGUAGE HISTORY: Do I know the order and age in which bilinguals learned their languages?	Not Reported = 0	53	100%		
	Reported = 1	0	0%		
SOCIOLINGUISTIC CONTEXT: Do I know about the general status and usage of languages in the study population?	Not Reported = 0	24	45.3%		
	Reported = 1	29	54.7%		
OVERALL SCORING: Based on the combined scores of all features	0-2	25	47.2%		
	3-5	26	49.1%		
	6-8	2	3.8%		

TABLE 1: Characteristics of Linguistic Reporting in 53 HL Studies

¹ We expanded on the data for this feature by noting whether the language of instruction included one or multiple named languages, translations (generally), or translations into one or more named languages.

some indication about how languages were valued in the larger society (both the home and target languages). This could include statements about national language policies or practices as well as the size of diasporic populations, but any report had to be explicitly stated and not implied through general knowledge. Reports on the language context (the status and use of the language in the larger society) were lacking for almost half of the studies. Generally, there were more studies conducted in the United States and Australia and many of the unreported sociolinguistic contexts came from these two countries; although Canada, Spain, Sweden, and Taiwan also had studies that did not report on societal language use.

Besides looking at these factors independently, we also created an overall score for language reporting. The interventions that included the fewest language details were mostly professional development interventions that targeted health care professionals. Those who included the most language details include Soto Mas et al. (2018) and Lauzon and Farabakhsh (2017). These articles connected HL promotion to the use of language in different contexts and leaned into language as a vehicle for understanding.

Educational Approaches

The coded data for pedagogical approaches to HL interventions is outlined in Table 2.

Authors reported on the adult learning theories underpinning their HL interventions less than half of the time. This aligns with the findings from the systematic review of HL interventions by Walters et al. (2020), where 12 of the 22 studies included theoretical underpinnings. As they argue "in a field which is striving to develop an evidence basis, theory allows for the systematic development, comparison and refinement of interventions

PEDAGOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF INTERVENTIONS				
Feature	Data	#	%	
Characteristics of the Interventions				
ADULT LEARNING: Do I know what theories about adult learning	Not Reported = 0	27	50.9%	
inform the intervention design?	Reported = 1	26	49.1%	
LANGUAGE LEARNING THEORIES: Do I know what theories about	Not Reported = 0	43	81.1%	
language learning inform the intervention design?	Reported = 1	10	18.9%	
SCAFFOLDING: Do I know the extent of scaffolding principles	Not Reported = 0	8	15.1%	
included in the intervention design?	Evidence of Principles = 1	28	52.8%	
	Evidence Plus Rationale = 2	17	32.1%	
COMMUNICATIVE COMPETENCE: Do I know if the intervention	Not Reported = 0	17	32.1%	
design reflects skills that promote communicative competence?	Reported = 1	36	67.9%	
ASSESSMENT: Do I know whether there was a feedback loop	Not Reported = 0	29	54.7%	
where assessment outcomes were shared with participants?	Reported = 1	24	45.3%	
CULTURAL SENSITIVITY: Do I know if the intervention was	Not Reported = 0	1	1.9%	
structured in a culturally sensitive way?	Reported Cultural Adaptation = 1	4	7.5%	
	Reported Linguistic Adaptation = 2	7	13.2%	
	Reported Cultural and Linguistic Adaptation = 3	41	77.4%	
OVERALL SCORING: Based on the combined scores of all features	0-3	6	11.3%	
	4-6	27	50.9%	
	7-9	20	37.7%	

TABLE 2: Characteristics of Pedagogical Reporting in 53 HL Studies

and is something that should be encouraged" (p. 14). They further argue that those interventions designed in line with theory have the potential to be more robust, effective, and applicable.

Fewer articles addressed language learning theories than addressed adult learning theories, possibly because of its more narrow application in the field of HL. Language learning theories are relevant to migrant HL interventions but not to HL interventions that focus on the majoritylanguage-speaking public. Because only a portion of the HL literature focuses on language learning (i.e., those targeting migrant populations), it appears the relevant theories from applied linguistics have not been integrated into the discipline as broadly.

Overall, scaffolding was well reported with only eight articles not reporting any scaffolding. There were 17 articles that further provided a rationale for why scaffolding was used. We might assume that scaffolding would be discussed and rationalized in formal and non-formal learning, where learning was an explicit goal of the intervention and not incidental. However, reporting on the scaffolding of interventions was more often reported in informal learning; all informal interventions discussed scaffolding, compared to most formal learning (Supplement D, Table 2).

Similarly to how adult learning theories were more reported than language learning theories, scaffolding was more reported than communicative competence. Even the formal learning interventions only reported on communicative competence in eight out of 11 articles. All of the interventions that included adult educators had evidence of improving communicative competence and incorporating scaffolding.

Learner-centered assessment principles outline a feedback loop where assessment outcomes and results are shared, but less than half reported on this feature. Assessments used for student progress and program accountability often leave out the kinds of knowledge and skill acquisition that learners use outside of the classroom (Condelli & Spruck Wrigley, 2006; Reder, 2015). Including a feedback loop is important when using standardized assessments that may not be well aligned with what is taught or learned in the intervention.

All but one of the articles reported cultural sensitivity in the form of linguistic or cultural adaptation. Although Tay et al. (2019) did not mention cultural sensitivity directly, the teachers were of a refugee background, so through the design of the intervention culture was addressed. The regular reporting on cultural sensitivity may be a factor of the national policies which guide HL interventions because they explicitly state that cultural sensitivity and adaptations should be part of HL interventions (Brach, 2024; Council of Europe, 2023).

Cultural sensitivity is different from scaffolding and communicative competence. For example, Lauzon and Farbakhash (2017), a formal multisectoral intervention including ESL instructors, viewed language acquisition as best taught contextually, in this case through improving parental HL. While they provided translations as needed, they also aimed to teach participants communicative skills to independently promote their own health through a language learning lens. Compare this to Farokhi et al. (2018), who used presentations and materials that were translated to participants' native language, revealing a linguistic adaptation. However, the intervention providers narrowly focused on oral HL and did not build on participants' communicative competence beyond this.

Similar to the linguistic findings, we created an overall score for pedagogical reporting. Those who included the most pedagogical details included Sarkar et al. (2019) and Lauzon and Farabakhsh (2017). These are both formal interventions where the authors emphasize how HL interventions can be developed to target language learners and to advance adult education through traditional pedagogical methods and a HL context.

When we analyzed whether the formal, non-formal, and informal learning approaches differ in reporting based on the features, we noticed the following: All learning approaches were about equally split between reporting and not reporting on adult learning theories. However, authors of studies on formal learning approaches did slightly better at reporting on language learning theories (Supplement D, Table 2). Only one did not reference any theories, indicating the disciplinary knowledge of pedagogical theories adult educators bring to HL interventions.

Discussion

In this scoping review, we sought to understand how

migrant HL is promoted in educational interventions and what the linguistic and educational underpinnings are. We relied on academic papers and the descriptions of the interventions that were published in order to understand how researchers situated their work. While these descriptions may not be comprehensive, they were nevertheless illuminating and allowed us to derive numerous recommendations for educators and researchers.

We found that the most basic information about how researchers label the target group or identify the health topics that are most pressing to a community rely on numerous contextual factors (for more, see Harsch et al., in press). This diversity of target populations is similarly reflected in the health topics and learning approaches (formal, non-formal, informal). The multitude of health topics included in the study resonate with Rima Rudd's study circle (2005) and are also visible in other reviews on migrant's HL (Fox et al., 2022; Harsch, 2024; Harsch & Bittlingmayer, 2024)). The various labels that are used as identifiers makes it difficult to generalize the target populations and limits the transferability of the interventions. Researchers and educators should be aware of labeling that reduces the complexity of the target group to one or two adjectives and refrain from using deficitoriented identifiers that ignore their assets. A translingual approach is useful here, where a unitary view of the full communicative system - including all the languages, gestures, and other meaning-making - informs the description of multilingual individuals (Canagarajah, 2013; Wei & Garcia, 2022).

The large number of non-formal and informal learning approaches demonstrates how important just-in-time learning is (Reder, 2015). Published studies on migrant HL interventions are happening in more than traditional classrooms – they happen in community spaces, clinics, and through online or other media. Similarly, interventions are led by more than just teachers: They include clinicians, community members, and university students. This heterogeneity is a strength for the local context, and for the learners who may lack the time and access to formal learning opportunities. This is why building standardization into HL interventions through the incorporation of theories and standards of practice with common phrasing is so important. Our data show that teaching and learning practices (scaffolding, communicative competence, cultural sensitivity) are more reported on than theories (adult learning and language learning theories). Also, general theories and practices (adult learning theories, scaffolding, cultural sensitivity) are more reported on than those focused on language (language learning theories and communicative competence). And yet, HL interventions for migrants necessarily incorporate adult learning and language learning, so the theoretical framework that underpins the interventions are critical for advancing the epistemological direction of the field. Language teachers and adult educators know these theories and their relation to practice, but they can be almost "taken for granted" when it comes to writing articles with so many other important features to describe.

There were three - in our view - crucial limitations and challenges we faced in this study: context, data, and heterogeneity. Context variation was a complicating factor because the articles we drew from were not defined by national borders. Policies that regulate migration, education, and access to health care vary depending on the destination and existing laws and regulations in the country of resettlement, and articles do not often outline these contextual factors. For example, countries who resettle refugees will have various regulations when it comes to evaluation of the claims for asylum including which countries they will accept refugees from,¹ support services upon arrival including refugee-specific services related to language education and other services such as national health care access, and HL policies that intersect education and health care. Thus, comparing the effectiveness of published HL interventions may hide important factors of the local systems that are in place and that strongly influence the success of the program as well.

Another challenge for any scoping review is that our data – the published accounts of migrant HL interventions – cannot fully represent the scope of the

² This is important because it dictates who is allowed to be a legal immigrant in a country and what types of support (both educational and health) they will be offered. For those fleeing situations not recognized by a host country as valid for asylum or refugee status, they will be forced to the social periphery and lack the meager resources offered to migrants who have entered a country through established and recognized ways.

work, the background context, or the knowledge of the providers as related to theoretical or practical matters. The expectations of the field and journal, limitations on article length, and prioritizing other aspects of the findings all limit what can be included in a publication. For example, Martin et al.'s (2018) article is one of the shortest in our corpus and lacked some of the linguistic and pedagogical details of the migrant HL intervention likely because it was so short. In this case, any information that could be inferred (such as the language of instruction) was unreported. This is not an evaluation of the effectiveness of the interventions, but rather an analysis of how the interventions are reported on.

Lastly, distinguishing between the different categories (health topic, educational approach) was not often easy because of the incredible heterogeneity of the interventions. We made decisions based on language used by the authors and discussed many categories at length. For example, Han et al. (2008) described an intervention addressing breast cancer prevention but also included elements of health systems navigation, making it difficult to categorize in terms of health topic. Despite these limitations, we found many insights relevant to adult educators and researchers developing, implementing, and reporting on HL interventions for migrant communities.

Recommendations

We recommend the following improvements to the planning and reporting of HL interventions with migrants:

- Describe the sociolinguistic context of the intervention and relevant policies or practices that address HL.
- Identify the theories of learning (including language learning) that informed the intervention. Connect the theories to the practices and demonstrate how best practices (such as scaffolding and communicative competence) are integrated into the intervention.
- When describing who was the target of the intervention, include details about language background (languages spoken and proficiency, home language use, and where possible the ages of

when the languages were learned). Avoid labels that perpetuate monolingually biased views of migrant populations.

- Tie learning outcomes to the target population in ways that affirm their assets and the situated HL practices they engage in daily. Use assessment tools that account for this practice effect (Reder, 2012).
- Support greater interchange between applied inguists, health care professionals, and educators to improve the impact of HL reporting.

Conclusion

It is important to try to build an understanding of the needs of migrant populations in different locations because the various forms of migration, along with their legal, economic and social statuses, constraints, and opportunities, affect migrants' health to varying degrees (IOM, 2015). Forced migration, caused by war, climate change, or persecution, has an impact on health at all stages of migration, as well as at individual, social, and political levels, the result of which may be a need for particular health interventions that are sensitive to the backgrounds of the migrant populations. Adult educators are well-positioned to provide HL interventions because their focus is not on simply providing translation or translators, but on teaching students the skills needed to overcome language barriers, a defining characteristic of poor HL.

A more in-depth understanding of interventions to promote migrant HL globally will enable practitioners and policymakers to make better decisions about which interventions to choose and support. It can also aid in the creation and revision of existing policies through inclusion of best practices beyond cultural sensitivity (theoretical grounding, scaffolding, communicative competence, assessments of HL and fluency, etc.). Finally, this detailed analysis of the practice of reporting on linguistic and pedagogical approaches will allow researchers to reflect on their practices and eventually set new standards for reporting on migrant studies that are relevant for practitioners, which allows for greater replication of the interventions as it provides relevant information to make informed decisions.

- Alasbahi, F. (2024, April 8-9). *Promoting migrant health literacy: A scoping study*. [Poster Presentation]. The Health Literacy Collaborative Summit, Madison, Wisconsin. https://tinyurl. com/bdsn87jj
- Alnimr, A. C., & Feuerherm, E. M. (2023, October 14). Promoting health literacy: How can we close the gap? Michigan Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages (MITESOL)
 Conference, Grand Rapids, Michigan. College of Language and Communication, University of Michigan - Flint.
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/13 64557032000119616
- Brach, C. (Ed.). (May, 2024). AHRQ health literacy universal precautions toolkit (3rd ed.). https://www.ahrq.gov/health-literacy/improve/precautions/toolkit.html
- Canagarajah, S. A. (Ed.). (2013). *Literacy as translingual practice: Between communities and classrooms*. Taylor and Francis Group.
- Chen, X., Goodson, P., & Acosta, S. (2015). Blending health literacy with an English as a second language curriculum: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Health Communication*, 20, 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1080/1081073 0.2015.1066467
- Choi, Y.-J. (2017). Effects of a program to improve mental health literacy for married immigrant women in Korea. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, *31*(4), 394–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apnu.2017.04.012
- Condelli, L., & Spruck Wrigley, H. (2006). Instruction, language and literacy: What works study for adult ESL literacy students. *LESLLA Symposium Proceedings*, 1(1), 111–133. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7983735
- Council of Europe, Steering Committee for Human Rights in the fields of Biomedicine and Health. (2023). *Guide to health literacy contributing to trust building and equitable access to healthcare*. https://rm.coe.int/inf-2022-17-guide-healthliteracy/1680a9cb75
- Farokhi, M. R., Muck, A., Lozano-Pineda, J., Boone, S. L., & Worabo, H. (2018). Using interprofessional education to promote oral health literacy in a faculty-student collaborative practice. *Journal of Dental Education*, *82*(10), 1091–1097. https://doi.org/10.21815/JDE.018.110
- Feuerherm, E., & McIntosh, B. (2023). Beyond "limited English proficient" in healthcare policy, practice, and programs.
 In B. Diaz & A. Soudi (Eds.), Applying linguistics in health research, education, and policy: Bench to bedside and back again. De Gruyter Mouton.

- Freire, P. (2005). *Pedagogy of the oppressed* (M. B. Ramos, Trans.). The Continuum International Publishing Group. (Original work published 1970)
- Fox, S., Kramer, E., Agrawal, P., & Aniyizhai, A. (2022). Refugee and migrant health literacy interventions in high-income countries: A systematic review. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 24,* 207–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-021-01152-4
- Han, H.-R., Lee, H., Kim, M. T., & Kim, K. B. (2008). Tailored lay health worker intervention improves breast cancer screening outcomes in non-adherent Korean-American women. *Health Education Research*, *24*(2), 318–329. https:// doi.org/10.1093/her/cyn021
- Harsch, S. (2024). Improving health literacy of migrants in language courses–lessons learned from a qualitative textbook analysis. *Linha D'Água*, 37(2), 107-135. https://www. revistas.usp.br/linhadagua/article/view/215706
- Harsch, S., & Bittlingmayer, U. H. (2024). Advancing the health literacy of migrants in second-language courses: Realistic review. *International Health Trends and Perspectives*, 4(1), 40–67. https://journals.library.torontomu.ca/index.php/ihtp/ article/view/1921
- Harsch, S., Alasbahi, F., Feuerherm, E., Santos, M. (in press). Promoting health literacy among migrants: A scoping review of evaluated interventions and reporting practices. *Frontiers in Public Health.*
- Hattem, J. (2024). *Is the humanitarian protection system falling apart or quietly evolving?* Migration Policy Institute. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/humanitarian-protection-evolution
- International Organization for Migration. (2015). Social determinants of migrant health. https://www.iom.int/socialdeterminants-migrant-health
- International Organization for Migration. (2019). *Glossary on Migration, IML Series No.* 34. https://publications.iom.int/ system/files/pdf/iml_34_glossary.pdf
- International Organization for Migration. (2021). *World migration report 2022*. https://publications.iom.int/books/ world-migration-report-2022
- The Johanna Briggs Institute (2015). *Joanna Briggs Institute reviewers' manual: 2015 edition/supplement*. The Johanna Briggs Institute, Australia. https://reben.com.br/revista/wpcontent/uploads/2020/10/Scoping.pdf
- Johnson, M., & Majewska, D. (2022). Formal, non-formal, and informal learning: What are they, and how can we research them? Cambridge University Press & Assessment Research Report.

15

- Kagawa-Singer, M., Tanjasiri, S. P., Valdez, A., Yu, H., & Foo,
 M. A. (2009). Outcomes of a breast health project for
 Hmong women and men in California. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(S2), S467–S473. https://doi.org/10.2105/
 AJPH.2008.143974
- Kickbusch, I., Pelikan, J. M., Apfel, F., & Tsouros, A. (2013). *Health literacy*. WHO Regional Office for Europe. https://iris.who. int/handle/10665/326432
- Knowles, M. S., Holton, E. F. III, Swanson, R. A., & Robinson,
 P. A. (2020). The adult learner: The definitive classic in adult education and human resource development (9th ed.). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group. https://doi. org/10.4324/9780429299612
- Koh, H.K., Berwick, D.M., Clancy, C.M., Baur, C., Brach, C., Harris, L.M., & Zerhusen, E.G. (2012). New federal policy initiatives to boost health literacy can help the nation move beyond the cycle of costly 'crisis care'. *Health Affairs*, *31*(2). https:// doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.1169
- Kreuter, M. W., & McClure, S. M. (2004). The role of culture in health communication. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *25*(1), 439-455.
- Lauzon, A., & Farabakhsh, R. (2017). The power of collaborative inquiry and metaphor in meeting the health literacy needs of rural immigrant women: A case of parent education. In Information Resources Management Association (Ed.), *Health literacy: Breakthroughs in research and practice* (pp. 495-513). IGI Global Scientific Publishing. https://doi. org/10.4018/978-1-5225-1928-7.cho24
- Martin, T. J., Butters, C., & Phuong, L. (2018). A two-way street: Reciprocal teaching and learning in refugee health. *Australian Health Review: A Publication of the Australian Hospital Association*, 42(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1071/AH17055
- Menard-Warwick, J. (2009). Gendered identities and immigrant language learning. Multilingual Matters.
- Nutbeam, D. (2000): Health literacy as a public health goal: a challenge for contemporary health education and communication strategies into the 21st century. *Health Promotion International 15*(3), 259–267. https://doi. org/10.1093/heapro/15.3.259.
- Parrish, B. (2019). Teaching adult English language learners: A practical introduction. Cambridge University Press.

- Purcell-Gates, V., Anderson, J., Gagne, M., Jang, K., Lenters, K. A., & McTavish, M. (2012). Measuring situated literacy activity: Challenges and promises. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 44(4), 396-425. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X12457167
- Sarr, A. (2023). Building health literacy for immigrants in the US: A scoping study. [Poster Presentation]. IHA Health Literacy Conference, Virtual. Building HL for Immigrants_Scoping Study_A.K.Sarr.pptx
- Reder, S. (2015). Expanding emergent literacy practices: Busy intersections of context and practice. *LESLLA Symposium Proceedings*, 9(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.5281/ zenodo.8022447
- Rudd, R., Soricone, L., Santos, M., Zobel, E., & Smith, J. (2005). Health literacy study circles. Introduction: Overview, Planning, and facilitation tips. National Center for the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy. https://eric. ed.gov/?id=ED508597
- Sarkar, J., Salyards, A., & Riley, J. (2019). "Health in the English language": A partnership with the Alaska Literacy Program. *HLRP: Health Literacy Research and Practice*, 3(3). https:// doi.org/10.3928/24748307-20190624-02
- Schecter, S. R., & Lynch, J. (2011). Health learning and adult education: In search of a theory of practice. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *61*(3), 207-224.
- Schillinger, D. (2021). Social determinants, health literacy, and disparities: Intersections and controversies. *HLRP: Health Literacy Research and Practice*, 5(3), e234-e243
- Soto Mas, F., Schmitt, C. L., Jacobson, H. E., & Myers, O. B. (2018). A cardiovascular health intervention for Spanish speakers: The Health Literacy and ESL Curriculum. *Journal of Community Health*, 43(4), 717–724. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10900-018-0475-3
- Surrain, S., & Luk, G. (2019). Describing bilinguals: A systematic review of labels and descriptions used in the literature between 2005–2015. *Bilingualism*, 22(2), 401–415. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1366728917000682
- Tay, K. W., Ong, A. W. H., Pheh, K. S., Low, S. K., Tan, C. S., & Low, P. K. (2019). Assessing the effectiveness of a mental health literacy programme for refugee teachers in Malaysia. *Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 26(6), 120–126. https://doi.org/10.21315/mjms2019.26.6.12
- Valenzuela-Araujo, D., Godage, S. K., Quintanilla, K., Dominguez Cortez, J., Polk, S., & DeCamp, L. R. (2021). Leaving paper behind: Improving healthcare navigation by Latino immigrant parents through video-based education. *Journal* of Immigrant and Minority Health, 23(2), 329–336. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10903-020-00969-9

- Walters, R., Leslie, S.J., Polson, R., Cusack, T. & Gorely, T. (2020) Establishing the efficacy of interventions to improve health literacy and health behaviours: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 20(1040). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08991-0
- Walqui, A., & Van Lier, L. (2010). Scaffolding the academic success of adolescent English language learners: A pedagogy of promise. WestEd.
- Wei, L., & García, O. (2022). Not a first language but one repertoire: Translanguaging as a decolonizing project. *RELC Journal*, 53(2), 313-324. https://doi. org/10.1177/00336882221092841
- World Health Organization. (2021). *Health promotion* glossary of terms. https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240038349?msclkid=d71e39eccfod11eca666 bee7da3bcbc3

Research Article

Empowering Refugees and Immigrants Through Transformational Home Language Health Education

Lindsay McHolme and Iris Feinberg, Georgia State University

Abstract

This study focuses on the importance of providing health education materials that are understandable, actionable, and linguistically and culturally sustaining, and therefore transformational for refugees and immigrants. We explored refugee and immigrant patient experiences with language specific diabetes education videos by conducting four separate focus groups with speakers of Pashto, Dari, Burmese, and Spanish to understand if and how the videos align with the health literacy guidelines of understandability and actionability, and the tenets of culturally sustaining pedagogy with a focus on long-term change. In addition to cultural and linguistic findings, we note that participants felt more confident in approaching their health care provider with questions after viewing the videos, a transformational behavior to achieve greater health outcomes for themselves. This study has implications for expanding language access within and across health care systems and for the way health literacy can be integrated into adult education language learning classrooms.

Note: We are grateful to Suad Ali and Mary Helen O'Connor for support with outreach, access to facilities, recruitment, organization, and coordination; to Coco Lukas for her contribution to data analysis and triangulation; and to Marhaba Alkozai, Esther Hau Dim, and Gabriela Durán for providing interpretation and recruitment services.

Keywords: health literacy, diabetes education, understandability, actionability, culturally sustaining pedagogy

This study is a formative evaluation of multilingual health literacy videos that were designed to educate about diabetes. The evaluation seeks to understand the functioning of the videos for the end users (James Bell Associates, 2018) who are multilingual refugee and immigrant patients living in Clarkston, Georgia. For this study, program functioning refers to whether "the resources needed to implement [the videos], including personnel, materials, space, time, and organizational supports" are in place (James Bell Associates, 2018, n.p.). Developed using a community-based participatory framework (CBPF) (Feinberg, O'Connor et al., 2023), these videos were designed in collaboration with multilingual physicians and community members in Clarkston, Georgia.

Conceptual Framework

It is well documented that an individual's literacy and

numeracy skills correlate with their self-rated health outcomes (MacDonald et al., 2022; Prins & Monnat, 2019; Ronson & Rootman, 2012). For example, a report based on the recent Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) results reveals that "individuals with high numeracy skills are 11 percentage points more likely to report very good or excellent health compared to those with low numeracy skills" (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2024, n.p.). In fact, Prins and Monnat (2019) conclude based on previous PIAAC findings, that educational attainment is a social determinant of health:

for U.S.-born adults and immigrants, literacy and numeracy are related to health both directly and through socioeconomic resources, particularly educational attainment, employment, parental education and, in the case of immigrants, speaking English well. As such, there may be potential health benefits to helping adult learners and immigrants who are most disadvantaged to develop their literacy and numeracy capabilities (p. 330).

In short, adult literacy and education are key components in building prosperous, healthy lives for individuals who are disadvantaged and minoritized (Prins & Monnat, 2019; Prins et al., 2015).

As a consideration for developing health education materials such as the videos our participants analyze in this study, the literature distinguishes between general literacy and health literacy (Ronson & Rootman, 2012). According to the National Assessment of Adult Literacy (2003), literacy is "the ability to use printed and written information to function in society, to achieve one's goals, and to develop one's knowledge and potential" (n.p.). General literacy "shapes income, employment, and other social determinants of health" (Prins & Monnat, 2019, p. 319). Health literacy, on the other hand, is "the ability [...] to read, understand, and act upon healthrelated information" and "the capacity of professionals and institutions to communicate effectively so that community members can make informed decisions and take appropriate actions to protect and promote their [own] health" (Tassi & Ashraf, 2008, p. 3). Therefore, health literacy can be viewed as a situated social practice (Papen, 2008), not just an individual responsibility, in which the community-individuals, health care systems, and health care practitioners-are responsible for designing and disseminating clear and accessible health education (Mooney & Prins, 2013; Prins & Monnat, 2019).

When designing health education materials for multilingual communities, the literature emphasizes the importance of using evidence-based health literacy guidelines in combination with community members' insights in the development of materials, ensuring that materials are not only culturally and linguistically sustaining, but that they draw on community members' funds of knowledge (Moll et al., 2001). Once patient education materials are created using health literacy guidelines, the literature recommends vetting them with community-based language/cultural brokers and then using internet-based resources for dissemination into the community (Abdullahi et al., 2023; Feinberg et al., 2016; Rao et al., 2022). understandable, easy to use, and presented from trustworthy sources in high quality modalities (Feinberg et al., 2023). During the COVID-19 pandemic, Feinberg et al. (2023) found that evidence-based health literacy guidelines—quality, understandability, and actionability might support the usefulness of YouTube videos meant to disseminate health literacy information. Pertinent to the present study, Shoemaker et al. (2014) define understandability and actionability as follows:

Understandability: Patient education materials are understandable when consumers of diverse backgrounds and varying levels of health literacy can process and explain key messages.

Actionability: Patient education materials are actionable when consumers of diverse backgrounds and varying levels of health literacy can identify what they can do based on the information presented (p. 396).

Additionally, there is evidence that collaborating with community members to design and disseminate patient education materials (PEMs) is effective and transformative (Kendrick & Mutonyi, 2007; Robotin et al., 2017). The CBPF draws on community funds of knowledge (Kendrick & Mutonyi, 2007; Rumenapp et al., 2023) and has been used to develop PEMs for rare diseases (Falcão et al., 2023) and COVID-19 information (Feinberg, O'Connor et al., 2023) among other health topics. The CBPF model builds on the existing strengths and resources of the community, positioning patients and providers as colearners in capacity building and information sharing. For example, when implementing Stop the Bleed trainings that promoted health education in basic trauma management techniques, Abdullahi et al. (2023) learned from community members that language concordant interpreters from the community and small group hands on sessions were beneficial in developing, sharing, and engaging with health information.

The literature suggests the importance of culturally and linguistically sustaining pedagogies when developing PEMs alongside multilingual communities (McKee & Paasche-Orlow, 2012). This offers a unique opportunity for health literacy experts and bi/multilingual education researchers to work together and alongside communities to design culturally sustaining PEMs (McKee & Paasche-Orlow, 2012). Culturally sustaining pedagogy (CSP) is grounded in the following concepts: implementing asset-based pedagogies, sustaining heritage and community practices, and critical reflexivity, or analyzing the intersectional

Patients need health information that is accessible,

relationships between language, culture, race, and ethnicity (Ladson-Billings, 1995, 2014; Paris, 2012; Paris & Alim, 2014). Translanguaging pedagogy, the leveraging of an individual's entire linguistic repertoire to teach a concept, is an example of CSP (García & Wei, 2014). In accordance with the principles of translanguaging, the literature on health information dissemination advocates for multilingual literature that does not privilege English or written materials only but incorporates multimodal applications through interactive books and programs (Chu et al., 2022; Feinberg, O'Connor et al., 2023; Headley et al., 2022; Khoong et al., 2019; Kusters et al., 2023; Ma et al., 2020; Mavreles et al., 2021; Robotin et al., 2017).

Evaluation Questions

We developed formative evaluation questions specifically to understand how refugee and immigrant community members in Clarkston, Georgia, experience culturally and linguistically sustaining diabetes PEM videos. Our research questions were:

- 1. In what ways, if any, do the videos enhance patient education and awareness?
- 2. How do inputs (personnel, materials, services) contribute to video dissemination?
- 3. Do individuals feel more confident asking the doctor questions about diabetes after having watched the videos?

Positionality Statement

To be attentive to critical reflexivity, it is important to us that we continually examine our own identities and biases in relation to this work. Dr. Lindsay McHolme identifies as an English/Spanish bilingual White woman with an expertise in multilingual teacher education. Dr. Iris Feinberg identifies as an English monolingual White woman with an expertise in health literacy. As part of this transformational work, we have intentionally sought to center the voices and experiences of the communities that the diabetes videos serve. The community members are seen at a free diabetes clinic; we maintain a close relationship with the clinic stakeholders and follow their recommendations for upholding community integrity and expertise. Therefore, we used home language concordant interpreters to support communication during the focus groups. Our collaborative work is a

response to a call for researchers with expertise in health literacy and bi/multilingual education to learn from one another in developing and disseminating PEMs for refugee and immigrant communities (McKee & Paasche-Orlow, 2012).

Methodology

This study is a formative evaluation of multilingual PEM videos that were designed to educate about diabetes. The evaluation seeks to understand the delivery and end user experience of the videos for multilingual refugee and immigrant patients living in Clarkston, Georgia. The videos under evaluation are available in Burmese, Dari, Pashto, and Spanish and address the following topics:

- What is diabetes?
- Checking and managing blood sugar
- Glipizide
- Metformin

The videos were developed by health literacy experts in collaboration with community clinicians and multilingual, transnational Clarkston community members to perform an iterative review, ensuring medical accuracy and cultural appropriateness. The study was implemented at the diabetes health clinic at the Clarkston Resource and Wellness Hub in Clarkston, Georgia. This free diabetes clinic serves multilingual and transnational refugee and immigrant patients from the Clarkston community. The clinicians that work at the clinic volunteer their time and expertise to serve the multilingual refugee and immigrant patients who visit the clinic.

Participants

Snowball sampling (Glesne, 2006) was used to recruit participants via interpreters, community leaders who spoke English and one of the following languages: Dari, Pashto, Burmese, and Spanish. The operations manager shared a flier with the interpreters, and the interpreters reached out to their language-specific networks for recruitment. Overall, 20 individuals participated in the evaluation study, five participants from each language group (Dari-Afghanistan, Pashto-Afghanistan, Burmese-Myanmar, and Spanish-Mexico). Most of the participants identified as women (80%) and ranged in age from 18 to 68 years old. Participants reported that they lived in the United States between a range of 1 month to 20 years, with 40% of the participants reporting 3 years (Table 1). Since our primary focus was to evaluate the PEMs and not our participants' health literacy levels, we chose not to collect data related to educational background, language proficiency, and level of experience with diabetes-related concepts.

TABLE	1: Partici	pant Demog	graphics
-------	------------	------------	----------

		Total	Female	Gender	Age		Years in	the US
Language	Country	N	N	%	Mean(sd)	Range	Mean(sd)	Range
Burmese	Myanmar	5	5	100%	36.6(5.77)	29 - 42	3.7(3.35)	1 - 9
Dari	Afghanistan	5	4	80%	40.4(11.78)	24 - 51	3(1.31)	<1 - 3
Pashto	Afghanistan	5	3	60%	38.4(18.39)	18 - 68	3.8 (1.79)	3 - 7
Spanish	Mexico	5	4	80%	52(<i>13.95</i>)	39 - 68	8.83(10.32)	<1 - 20

Note. N = 20, with 5 participants in each group; *sd* = standard deviation.

Instruments

Two instruments were used for this formative evaluation: a questionnaire and a semi-structured interview protocol. The materials were written to give participants the opportunity to respond in multiple modes (oral, written, language of their choice) to accommodate their ability to give complete responses. Participants were not required to write in any language.

Questionnaire

The purpose of the questionnaire was two-fold: to describe the participants in the study accurately and from their perspectives and to measure attitudes and opinions about the videos in a written and/or multimodal format (Nardi, 2018). There are 11 openended demographic questions to allow participants to describe their own identities from their perspectives, considering name, chosen pseudonym, age, gender, race/ ethnicity, home country, home language, years lived in the US, and mode of seeking health resources. Then, the questionnaire includes four multimodal Likert-scale questions that are designed to understand participants' attitudes and opinions about the videos after watching them. The Likert scale choices are represented in writing and with emojis to allow for multilingual/multimodal meaning making and representation (García & Wei, 2014). To accommodate participants' varying oral and written literacy and language levels, the focus group facilitator and interpreters walked the participants

through how to fill out the document and encouraged, but did not require, participants to give a written response in any language they preferred.

Semi-Structured Interview Protocol

The semi-structured interview protocol that was used during the focus group meetings was organized by the health literacy information guidelines (understandability and actionability), culturally sustaining pedagogy (assetbased language, sustaining heritage and community practices, and appropriate intersectional relationships between language, culture, race, and ethnicity), and the formative evaluation toolkit (dissemination: personnel, materials, services) (James Bell Associates, 2018). The questions under each category were guided by what we have learned from the literature about PEM design and dissemination:

- Dissemination: Which community members are most appropriate for disseminating these videos?; Would you be willing to share these videos with family and friends? If so, with whom? If not, why?; Where should the videos be available (e.g., QR codes, URLs, brochures, etc.) for patients?; When should the videos be provided to patients (after a visit, for example)?
- 2. Understandability: Are there any concepts in the videos that require further education (i.e. content, word choice and style, organization, layout and design, visual aids)?

- 3. Actionability: What new information, if any, did you learn from the individual videos? What information is missing?
- 4. Cultural/Linguistic Responsiveness: In what ways, if at all, are the videos culturally and linguistically appropriate (do they include asset-based pedagogy, sustaining heritage and community practices, and consider the intersectional relationships between language, culture, race, and ethnicity)?

For the conversation to remain free flowing and as participant-directed as possible, there were four main questions and flexible sub questions and prompts that the interviewer may or may not have referenced during the interviews (Glesne, 2006).

Focus Groups

At the beginning of each focus group, the interviewers and the interpreters discussed the plain language consent form. The participants completed the informed consent and the questionnaire verbally. Then, the group watched the videos in the common home language of the participant group, pausing to give participants time to respond with their thoughts about each video on the questionnaire. After watching and responding to the videos, the interviewer facilitated the semi-structured interview with assistance from the interpreter who often took the lead, encouraging participants to freely discuss the health literacy guidelines, culturally sustaining pedagogy framework and formative evaluation toolkit framework for dissemination. In total, the focus group meetings lasted no longer than two hours. At the end of each focus group, participants received financial compensation for participating in the study. The focus group meetings were audio recorded and translated/ transcribed in English.

Data Analysis

For triangulation, we gathered data from the questionnaires, focus group interviews, and participant observations for analysis (Glesne, 2006). The PEMAT-AV and the CSP framework were used to analyze the end user experience of the videos. The PEMAT-AV helped us to identify themes of understandability and actionability (Shoemaker et al., 2014) and the CSP framework helped us to identify themes of asset-based pedagogy, sustaining heritage and community practices, and consider intersectional relationships (Paris & Alim, 2014). The formative evaluation toolkit framework was used to analyze the dissemination processes for the videos. During the first cycle of coding, vivo codes were used to note specific qualitative evaluative comments made by participants verbatim, as it aligns with grounded theory and honors participant voice (Saldaña, 2009). Then, descriptive coding was used to identify relevant topics (understandability, actionability, cultural and linguistic references) (Saldaña, 2009). Finally, coding tags were used to indicate specific actions for follow-up. The second cycle coding was developed based on evaluation coding, "the application of non-quantitative codes onto qualitative data that assign judgments about the merit and worth of programs or policy" (Rallis & Rossman, 2003, p. 492). The categories of description (participant observations that assess quality), comparison (measure against a standard or ideal), and prediction (recommendations for change) were used for evaluation coding (Rossman & Rallis, 2003).

Findings

Our findings reveal that participants learned new information about diabetes management from these videos, felt that they will have more confidence talking to their doctor about diabetes after watching the videos, appreciated the cultural and linguistic responsiveness of the home language content, and were excited about the idea of sharing them with their communities.

End User Experience

Understandability

Participants reported that the videos were understandable and that they would be able to use the information they learned to manage diabetes and ask informed questions at the doctor's office. Regarding overall understanding of the four videos combined, participants overwhelmingly felt that they understood the videos extremely well or very well (Table 2).



TABLE 2: How well did you understand the videos overall?

Note: Missing data from 2 participants in the Pashto group (Metformin and Glipizide videos)

To improve understandability of the videos, some participants recommended using a documentary-style video (instead of animation) that demonstrates how real people use the glucometer. An example of one of the comments that supported this is: "they're making a video like cartoon. A documentary [is] more specific and more ideas so that people take more serious." In any case, the participants overall wanted the videos to contain more detailed information in whatever format it was presented.

Actionability

A follow-up survey revealed that 100% of participants who responded (*n*=10) felt more confident speaking to their doctors about diabetes and diabetes management after watching the PEMs during the focus group. In fact, participants shared that they learned new information about diabetes that would support their ability to speak with and learn more from their health care providers about different diabetes-related topics. Typical responses included:

Hla Hla, Basics of Diabetes (Burmese): "When a person has diabetes, it can be a consequence. We have to eat healthy diet and then more exercise. And then talk to the doctors regularly."

Bahar, Diabetes Symptoms (Pashto): "It affects our eyes, our hearts, our kidney."

Tatiana, Management and Prevention (Spanish): "Is important for my culture before to go to the doctor, you look everywhere and drink everything to save your life before go to the doctor. I learn before you start to do something, you going and check with a doctor."

Kamila, Medication Side Effects (Dari): "Somewhat normal and not normal side effect you can visit the doctor. Anytime they say you need to take the medicine, you always take your three meals and not skip. This is really important."

Nagia, Healthy Life Style (Pashto): "I learned to do exercise."

Having learned new information about diabetes from the videos, participants asked informed and detailed questions about diabetes that could be included in future PEMs or that they could discuss with their doctors. Common questions included:

A Min, Family and Self-Management (Burmese): "The video said diabetes can make your heart weak as well. My mother is diabetic and she has a heart problem as well. When we talk [to her], maybe we should be careful to give them bad news [in a gentle way]?"

Farhat, Family and Self-Management (Dari): "We have to take healthy food. What is healthy food? How to take it?"

Gaby, Access to Management Tools (Spanish): "It's very important to see how is the cost of the medicine [and glucometer]. Always ask to the insurance if they cover."

Bahar, Side Effects and Symptoms (Pashto): "What is the difference between side effects and symptoms?"

Kamila, Mental Health (Dari): "If a person hear about that I have diabetes, is that suddenly they will know. It make them really isolated from the community. [What to do?]"

Among the many follow-up questions, participants across the focus groups were especially interested in learning more about healthy food in the United States. It is outside the scope of this project to address these questions; however, it should be noted that the community of researchers and doctors that work within this community have developed culturally and linguistically sustaining PEMs that address the topic of healthy food.

Cultural and Linguistic Sustainability

The diabetes PEMs are not just relevant to community members because they are in their home languages, but their purpose is transformative, that is, to educate and empower individuals to be in control of their own health (Alim & Paris, 2017; Kusters et al., 2023). We discuss the findings in this section through the lens of culturally sustaining pedagogy (Ladson-Billings, 1995; 2014; Paris, 2012; Paris & Alim, 2017) with a specific focus on asset-based pedagogy, sustaining heritage and community practices, intersectional relationships, and linguistic representation. Asset-based pedagogy is the use of "the linguistic, literate, and other cultural practices of our communities meaningfully as assets in educational spaces" (Alim & Paris, 2017, p. 5). According to Paris and Alim (2014), sustaining heritage and community practices is not enough if we truly seek to enact asset-based pedagogy. They argue that "it is crucial that we understand the ways [...] people are enacting race, ethnicity, language, literacy, and cultural practices in both traditional and evolving ways" (Paris & Alim, 2014, p. 90). Individuals enact their own identities in multiple and fluid ways within their own communities, which emphasizes

the importance of representing intersectional identities and relationships in PEMs specifically designed for refugee and immigrant communities (Ladson-Billings, 1995, 2014; Paris, 2012; Paris & Alim, 2014).

Culturally Sustaining Pedagogy.

Overall, participants were very pleased with the assetbased cultural and linguistic responsiveness of the videos. For example, one participant's positive response was typical across focus groups:

Said, Respectful Language and Content (Pashto): "it's very respectable, our language and the information is also good."

Not only did participants overwhelmingly appreciate the cultural and linguistic responsiveness of the videos, but they recommended ways to use these videos to further transform health education within their communities.

Addressing Religious Observances.

Participants who practice religious traditions that involve celebratory eating and/or fasting expressed that it was important to include how to manage diabetes during religious observances into the videos (or to create specific videos addressing them). Typical responses include:

Hla Hla, Ramadan (Burmese): "When I was in Indonesia during the Ramadan, we get up at three in the morning. That's when we eat. And then afternoon pills after fasting, after dinner. That's what they [the doctor in Indonesia] told me. But from the doctor in the US, they didn't say, even during the Ramadan."

Mahib, Ramadan (Pashto): "It is really good idea to have a video about this [Ramadan]. We like difficult to control, even the not water [fasting from water and food]."

Gaby, Christmas and Semana Santa (Spanish): "I think so for me it's important for celebration. We are Hispanic and we make a lot of food, and mostly all the food is like sugar or extra protein. We show the kids how we eat on the days, like we make postres [desserts] and dessert. It's a day of celebration, but is the day of take care of you and your family too, verdad [right]?"

Religious observances are an integral component of community cultural practices and as the participants in this study expressed, can be included in PEMs to support self-management of health conditions. This finding also has implications for doctors' cultural responsiveness, highlighting the importance of addressing how diabetes can be managed during varying religious observances.

Incorporating Layered Intersectional Representation.

Participants recognized the racial and ethnic representation in the videos as asset-based; however, they were concerned about the lack of intersectional representation in the videos. Intersectionality is, "a way of understanding and analyzing the complexity in the world, in people, and in human experiences" with the understanding that "people's lives and the organization of power in a given society are better understood as being shaped not by a single axis of social division, be it race or gender or class, but by many axes that work together and influence each other" (Collins & Bilge, 2016, p. 2). Participants recommended to include characters of all ages, body types, and abilities in the videos. For example, Carolina, a Spanish speaker, explained the importance of representing age diversity in the videos.

Carolina, Age (Spanish): "They're [the videos] focused only on the older people. Everybody can have diabetes."

For the most part, the videos represent older adults, and across the focus groups, participants agreed with Carolina, wanting to be able to understand how diabetes could be prevented and managed for their children. Tatiana, also a Spanish speaker, stated that it would be helpful to see different body sizes in the videos.

Tatiana, Body Sizes (Spanish): "[more diversity in] the characters in the body."

Participants noticed that the characters in the videos were all one size, and they wanted to see their own body sizes represented in the videos, to demonstrate to viewers that diabetes affects people of all sizes. Finally, participants recommended including accommodations for viewers of different abilities, such as including captions and bullet points in home languages on every slide to support understanding.

Gaby, Ability (Spanish): "I like the video and I like to know about the letters too because like my friend, he can't listen. He can see the caption, mi amigo [my friend] Carlos. He can't hear, but he can read Spanish."

Contending with the Transnational Experience.

Transnational settings "involve people, resources, and interactions that transcend nation-state borders and space/ time boundaries" (Canagarajah, 2020, p. 559). Many of the refugee and immigrant participants in this study participate in transnational settings where they contend with their layered identities within and across borders and space/time boundaries, meaning they maintain a relationship with their home countries, cultures, and languages while also engaging in the receiving countries' cultural and linguistic practices. Gaby's story, a common sentiment shared across the focus groups, illuminates the importance of explicitly teaching about making healthy choices in American grocery stores and restaurants, as the choices might be very different from home country options:

Gaby, American Food (Spanish): "When I come to this country, I can see how the bread is very sugar. I'm working on Dunkin Donuts and I was very surprising how the sugar is covered of the glaze because we have Mexican pan dulce [sweet bread], verdad [right]? It's sweet, but not like glazed, so when you come [to the United States], you feel excited because you have all these many, many options. You need to take care of how the way you eat because this is the way when we come here. We are starting to begin doing fat and sugar and diabetes. Sometimes we don't know about how would this much sugar and some small portion.

Another example of transnational experience comes from Tatiana, also a Spanish speaker who explained that in Mexico, commercials for drugs (like Metformin and Glipizide) do not list side effects,

Tatiana, Side Effects (Spanish): "We drink medicine with this going for prescription for the doctors. The difference on Mexico, they no let you know all these things, the side effects. Mexico no let you know but I know that this another just give you the medicine and you want to drink. Whatever happened to you, it your problem."

Linguistically Sustaining Pedagogy.

Participants agree that these home language videos are necessary and useful for diabetes education within their communities. For the most part, participants said that the language used in the videos was appropriate and respectful. Participants appreciated the everyday language used in the videos.

Farhat, Understandable Language (Dari): "the language itself, like the way they explain, like perfect."

Mahib, Understandable Language (Pashto): "understandable, especially for common people, not like a high level of language."

Language for Communicating with Doctors.

Participants recommended including key vocabulary such as 'diabetes', 'blood sugar', and 'glucometer' in English as well as the home language to help individuals feel more comfortable speaking about diabetes with their doctors. Across all of the focus groups, participants preferred that key words should be communicated orally, verbally, and printed in the home language and in English. Chu et al. (2022) concur, advocating for language preferences and health literacy to ensure accessibility.

Farhat, English Language Support (Dari): "It could mention English words too because people are living in this country, and this native language is English. Make people exposed to the language. They will hear about 'diabetes' and they need to know what's that."

Considerations for Multimodal Components.

In bi/multilingual education, we know that "successful multilingual interactions have always been aided by multimodalities – gestures, objects, visual cues, touch, tone, sounds and other modes of communication besides words" (García & Wei, 2014, p. 28). Participants in this study explained how the multimodal illustrations in the videos supported their understanding. The following is a typical response:

Said, Illustrations Can Support Learning (Pashto): "I learned [about healthy food] from the picture."

However, the participants' worries about the severity of side effects were primarily brought on by the multimodal components of the video, which speaks to the power of images to communicate a message. Participants explained that if these images are used, the video should be shown to patients at a clinic and discussed with the doctor to clarify any questions about the safety of the medication. Typical responses include:

Gaby, Illustrations Can Instill Fear (Spanish): "It's good to talking about worries when you drink [Metformin], but they [need to] show something good for your body, so if you show different face."

Carolina, Illustrations Can Instill Fear (Spanish): "If you feel like that, maybe you say, 'Oh no, better I don't drink the medicine. I feel it's not safe for me."

In the PEMs, the characters look like they are in a lot of pain as they experience the side effects of Metformin and Glipizide and many participants said these images would deter them from taking these medicines to manage their diabetes. Being aware of the transnational experience and consistently creating opportunities for transnational individuals to ask questions and express concerns can help identify ways to create more patient-centered and assetbased PEMs.

Dissemination

Before viewing the series of videos, participants responded to a multiple-choice question on the participant survey that asked the following question: *Where do you go to find information about your health (check all that apply)?* The results of the survey revealed that participants would overwhelmingly prefer to receive health information from their doctors, then family members and community leaders.

Many of the focus group discussions centered around the importance of community and collective education. There was an interest in holding community forums led by doctors-similar to the focus groups conducted for the study-to watch the videos and ask questions. The following is a typical response:

Said, Community (Pashto): "If we have gathering of communities, like watch videos, same program like this focus group. That today we are five and it's like next day we are ten, more people will get knowledge and then they will share with their friends."

Participants recommended sharing the videos online, specifically on YouTube, Facebook, and in WhatsApp threads led by community leaders. They also recommended tagging the videos with searchable keywords in English and in home languages to make them easier to find. Other ideas included: playing the videos in clinic waiting rooms, places of worship, public transportation, community centers, and community forums. It was suggested that home language brochures with QR codes could be distributed in these places as well.

Participants felt that the videos could be disseminated anytime, but that during or after a visit to the clinic would be the most effective. Since the Metformin and Glipizide videos are more specific to individual patients, participants recommended that they be distributed only after a diagnosis with support from the doctor.

Discussion

This study investigated the understandability, actionability, and culturally and linguistically sustaining components of home language specific PEMs for diabetes education. While earlier studies have explored the impact of PEMs, they have not explicitly addressed how health educators and bi/multilingual teacher educators can work together to develop patient-centered materials.



TABLE 3: Preferred Video Dissemination Sources

We found that the home language diabetes PEMs under evaluation were understandable and actionable, in that participants said they learned new information about diabetes and would be able to use that information to advocate for and manage their own health better than before they watched the videos. Our findings also revealed that participants felt respected and valued by the videos, particularly because the videos centered and represented their home languages and cultures. In the following section, we echo a call for researchers in the fields of health literacy and adult multilingual education to collaborate in the development and dissemination of health literacy materials for refugee and immigrant communities (McKee & Paasche-Orlow, 2012).

Expanding Language Access Across Health Care Systems

This study has implications for expanding language access for refugees and immigrants within and across health care

systems. For health information to be understandable and actionable, PEMs must be developed alongside multilingual communities, drawing from their cultural and linguistic funds of knowledge (Feinberg, O'Connor et al., 2023). Working with, not just for multilingual communities requires deep community collaborations toward developing intercultural competence and health literacy within and across the health care system (Mavreles et al., 2021). Therefore, effective PEMs designed for transformational health education should be developed from the ground up, centering health concerns from the community (Freire, 2018; Rumenapp et al., 2023). The PEMs in this study were developed by and for the community, which was apparent in the positive ways participants reacted to the linguistic and cultural responsiveness of the videos. Participants were eager to invite family and community members to learn from the videos, suggesting appropriate ways to disseminate the videos in community forums.

For health information to be transformational, it must lead people to achieve better health outcomes for themselves and their families. Critical health literacy creates opportunities for people to apply information they have learned into action in any health context (Abel & Benkert, 2022). Providing home language health education videos using health literacy and cultural/linguistic guidelines may be a conduit for people to reflect and act in their lives. Our study found that all participants felt more empowered to ask their health care providers questions after viewing the videos, thereby improving their actions toward improving their own health outcomes and removing health disparities and inequities.

This study confirmed that to promote equity in the health care system, PEMs should be accessible in the community's home languages, and should not privilege English (Chu et al., 2022; Kusters et al., 2023; Ma et al., 2020; Robotin et al., 2017). That said, participants suggested that it might be helpful for the PEMs to highlight key words in English that may be useful in speaking with doctors and advocating for their own health. As we conducted this study, we learned the importance of building relationships with language concordant interpreters from the community who can bridge any linguistic and cultural barriers (Abdullahi et al., 2023). Not only did the interpreters who supported this study recruit participants, but they helped us improve the linguistic and cultural representations in the videos. Finally, we learned that inclusive, culturally responsive multimedia and images should be used to support communication about health literacy (Robotin et al., 2017; Headley et al., 2022). Our findings revealed that the multimodal semiotics in the videos were helpful for building understanding but could be improved upon by incorporating diverse intersectional representation- age, body size, and ability in addition to race and ethnicity. As we continue to take direction from the communities with whom we work, we hope to expand health literacy awareness in refugee and immigrant communities.

Health Literacy and the Adult Education Classroom

The findings of this study have the potential to inform the way health literacy is integrated into adult education classrooms designed for multilingual language learners (MLLs). Adult education curriculum for MLLs in the United States is often focused on learning English skills that are deemed necessary for navigating everyday life. A typical "health" unit may focus on the basic skills and English vocabulary needed for everyday health care. For example, vocabulary and learning objectives might include "parts of the body" and "read medicine labels" (Jenkins & Johnson, 2017, p. viii). As adult education instructors get to know their adult MLL students' journeys, language practices, and traditions of literacy (España & Herrera, 2020), an opportunity is created for health education curriculum content that is customized to the learners' needs and interests. For example, an instructor may learn that their adult MLL students are interested in learning how to navigate speaking to their doctors after a diabetes diagnosis. Providing home language content developed by health literacy experts to both teach new information and activate funds of knowledge can act as a jumping off point for teaching the English language skills necessary for requesting a language concordant interpreter or speaking directly to the doctor.

The home language PEMs analyzed in this study offer multiple opportunities for adult education teachers to use translanguaging pedagogy (García & Wei, 2014) to promote health education with MLL students. Translanguaging pedagogy draws on learners' cultural and linguistic funds of knowledge, including multimodal representations, gestures, etc., with the goal of communicating fluidly across various circumstances. The fact that the PEMs deliver content in multiple languages makes it possible for teachers to use translanguaging pedagogy to deepen content and linguistic knowledge. For example, when students learn about diabetes in their home language first, students build their background knowledge related to the content and then teachers can more easily "differentiate among students' levels and adapt" language instruction to students' needs (García & Wei, 2014, p. 121). This type of collaboration with health literacy experts and PEMs would ensure that every student is receiving and accessing the same depth of content instruction, in this case related to diabetes, to better advocate for themselves and their own health.

Limitations

If this study were to be duplicated, we recommend gathering more information related to participants' demographic profiles, particularly highest level of education and in what language/country. Given the data collected about the participants, we were limited in what we could explain scientifically. As we conducted the focus group interviews, we noticed that some individuals had a strong understanding of diabetes while others were learning about the disease for the first time. It may be of use to study whether and how an individual's level of education in any language could be a contributing factor to their ability to learn from PEMs such as the one used for this study. In future iterations of this study, we would recommend collecting information about participants' educational background, literacy levels in all languages spoken, and level of experience with health concepts.

Directions for Future Research

The findings of this study make it clear that home language PEMs are beneficial for refugee and immigrant communities. Future research should examine the components of effective home language PEMs that explain strategies for how an individual can advocate for their own and their family's health at the doctor. Participants in this study learned about diabetes from these home language videos and developed questions to ask at the doctor; however, going to the doctor in the US may (or may not) be a completely different experience from what individuals have experienced in their home countries. Developing PEMs that explain the importance of asking the doctor questions, such as how to manage diabetes during religious observances, could be a next step in supporting patient autonomy and empowerment.

Conclusion

Freire (2018) suggests that the only way to achieve liberation for all is to continually work toward true solidarity with the oppressed, asserting that "the pursuit of full humanity, [...], cannot be carried out in isolation or individualism, but only in fellowship and solidarity" (p. 85). Thus, this study was made possible by years of building trust within the refugee and immigrant communities in Clarkston, Georgia, across Atlanta-area universities, and within the free diabetes clinic where this study took place. The deep community trust that had already been built before conducting this project was palpable, as the site coordinator was able to identify willing and passionate language concordant interpreters from the community (Abdullahi et al., 2023). Because of the community-based interpreters and the videos that were developed alongside the community (Kendrick & Mutonyi, 2007; Rumenapp et al., 2023), participants saw themselves, their languages, their cultures, and their communities in the videos. Building relationships with community-wide partners, like the ones that are connected to this clinic, is necessary for enacting transformational health education.

References

- Abdullahi, D., Zeidan, A., Koganti, D., Feinberg, I., O'Connor, M.
 H., Asker, S., Butler, J., Meyer, C., Rasheed, M., Herard, K., & Smith, R. N. (2023). Cultural and linguistic adaptations of Stop the Bleed in multi-ethnic refugee communities. *American Surgeon*, 89(8), 3406–3410. https://doi. org/10.1177/00031348231162708
- Abel, T., & Benkert, R. (2022). Critical health literacy: reflection and action for health, *Health Promotion International*, *37*(4), daac114, https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daac114
- Alim, H. S. & Paris, D. (2017). What is culturally sustaining pedagogy and why does it matter? In D. Paris & H. S. Alim (Eds.), *Culturally sustaining pedagogies* (pp. 1-24). Teachers College Press.
- Canagarajah, S. (2020). Transnational work, translingual practices, and interactional sociolinguistics. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 24(5), 555–573. https://doi.org/10.1111/josl.12440
- Chu, J. N., Sarkar, U., Rivadeneira, N. A., Hiatt, R. A., & Khoong, E. C. (2022). Impact of language preference and health literacy on health information-seeking experiences among a lowincome, multilingual cohort Janet. *Patient Education and Counseling, May 2022*(5), 1268–1275. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2021.08.028
- Collins, P. H., & Bilge, S. (2016). Intersectionality. Polity Press.
- España, C. & Herrera, L. Y. (2020). *En comunidad: Lessons for centering the voices and experiences of bilingual Latinx youth.* Heinemann.
- Falcão, M., Allocca, M., Rodrigues, A. S., Granjo, P., Francisco, R., Pascoal, C., Grazia Rossi, M., Marques-da-Silva, D., Magrinho, S. C. M., Aragon Castro, L., de Freitas, C., Videira, P. A., de Andrés-Aguayo, L., & dos Reis Ferreira, V. (2023). A community-based participatory framework to co-develop patient education materials (PEMs) for rare diseases: A model transferable across diseases. *International Journal* of *Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(2). https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20020968
- Feinberg, I., O'Connor, M. H., Khader, S., Nyman, A. L., & Eriksen, M. P. (2023). Creating understandable and actionable COVID-19 health messaging for refugee, immigrant, and migrant communities. *Healthcare* (*Switzerland*), *11*(8), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare11081098
- Feinberg, I., Ogrodnick, M., & Bernhardt, J. (2023). COVID-19 vaccine videos: Health literacy considerations. *Health Literacy Research and Practice*, 7(2), e111–e118. https://doi. org/10.3928/24748307-20230523-02
- Flores, N., & Rosa, J. (2015). Undoing appropriateness: Raciolinguistic ideologies and language diversity in education. *Harvard Educational Review*, *85*(2), 149–171. https://doi.org/10.17763/0017-8055.85.2.149

- Freire, P. (2018). *Pedagogy of the oppressed* (50th anniversary edition). Bloomsbury Academic.
- García, O., & Wei, L. (2014). *Translanguaging: Language, bilingualism and education*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Glesne, C. (2006). Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction (3rd ed.). Pearson.
- Headley, S. A., Jones, T., Kanekar, A., & Vogelzang, J. (2022). Using memes to increase health literacy in vulnerable populations. *American Journal of Health Education*, 53(1), 1115. https://doi. org/10.1080/19325037.2021.2001777
- James Bell Associates. (2018). Formative evaluation toolkit: A step-by-step guide and resources for evaluating program implementation and early outcomes. Children's Bureau, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Jenkins, R., & Johnson, S. (2017). *Stand out: Evidence-based learning for college and career readiness*. National Geographic Learning.
- Kendrick, M., & Mutonyi, H. (2007). Meeting the challenge of health literacy in rural Uganda: The critical role of women and local modes of communication. *Diaspora, Indigenous, and Minority Education*, 1(4), 265–283. https://doi. org/10.1080/15595690701563980
- Khoong, E. C., Gem, L., Hoskote, M., Rivadeneira, N., Hiatt,
 R. A., & Sarkar, U. (2019). Health information seeking behaviors and preferences of a diverse multi-lingual cohort. *National Library of Medicine, June*(57), 176–183. https://doi. org/10.1097/MLR.00000000001050
- Kusters, I. S., Dean, J. M., Gutierrez, A. M., Sommer, M., & Klyueva, A. (2023). Assessment of COVID-19 website communication in languages other than English by local health departments in the United States. *Health Communication*, 38(8), 1519– 1529. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2021.2017109
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). Toward a theory of culturally relevant pedagogy. *American Educational Research Journal*, 32(3), 465-491. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312032003465
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2014). Culturally relevant pedagogy 2.0: a.k.a. the remix. *Harvard Educational Review, 84*(1), 74–84. https:// doi.org/10.17763/haer.84.1.p2rj131485484751
- Ma, H., Yang, F., Ren, J., Li, N., Dai, M., Wang, X., Fang, A., Li, J., Qian, Q., & He, J. (2020). ECCParaCorp: A cross lingual parallel corpus towards cancer education, dissemination and application. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 20(Suppl 3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-020-1116-1

MacDonald, E., Arpin, E., & Quesnel-Vallée, A. (2022). Literacy and self-rated health: Analysis of the Longitudinal and International Study of Adults (LISA). *SSM – Population Health*, *17*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101038

Mavreles Ogrodnick, M., O'Connor, M. H., & Feinberg, I. (2021). Health literacy and intercultural competence training. *Health Literacy Research and Practice*, *5*(4), e283–e286. https://doi.org/10.3928/24748307-20210908-02

McKee, M. M., & Paasche-Orlow, M. K. (2012). Health literacy and the disenfranchised: The importance of collaboration between limited English proficiency and health literacy researchers. *Journal of Health Communication*, *17*(SUPPL. 3), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2012.712627

Moll, L., Amanti, C., Neff, D., & Gonzalez, N. (2006). Funds of knowledge for teaching: Using a qualitative approach to connect homes and classrooms. In N. Gonzalez, L. C. Moll, & C. Amanti (Eds.), *Funds of knowledge* (pp. 71-87). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410613462

Mooney, A., & Prins, E. (2013). Addressing the health literacy needs of adult education students (Practitioner's guide #4). Gooding Institute for Research in FamilyLiteracy. http://www.ed.psu.edu/educ/goodling-institute/ professional-development/practitioner-guide-3-11-27-12

Nardi, P. M. (2018). Doing survey research (4th ed.). Routledge.

National Assessment of Adult Literacy. (2003). *Definition of literacy*. National Center for Education Statistics. https:// nces.ed.gov/naal/fr_definition.asp

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2024). Do adults have the skills they need to thrive in a changing world?: Survey of Adult Skills 2023. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/b263dc5d-en.

Papen, U. (2009). Literacy, learning and health: A social practices view of health literacy. *Literacy and Numeracy Studies*, 16(2), 19–34. https://doi.org/10.5130/lns.voio.1275

Paris, D. (2012). Culturally sustaining pedagogy: A needed change in stance, terminology, and practice. *Educational Researcher*, 41(3), 93–97. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X12441244

Paris, D., & Alim, H. S. (2014). What are we seeking to sustain through culturally sustaining pedagogy? A loving critique forward. *Harvard Educational Review*, 84(1), 85–100. https:// doi.org/10.17763/haer.84.1.982l873k2ht16m77 Prins, E. & Monnat, S. (2019). Literacy, numeracy, and self-rated health among U.S. adults. In D. Perin (Ed.), *The Wiley handbook of adult literacy* (pp. 317-336). Wiley-Blackwell.

- Prins, E., Monnat, S., Clymer, C., & Wilson Toso, B. (2015). How is health related to literacy, numeracy, and technological problem-solving skills among U.S. adults? Evidence from the Program for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC). *Journal of Research and Practice for Adult Literacy, Secondary, and Basic Education, 4*(3), 22-43.
- Robotin, M. C., Porwal, M., Hopwood, M., Nguyen, D., Sze, M., Treloar, C., & George, J. (2017). Listening to the consumer voice: Developing multilingual cancer information resources for people affected by liver cancer. *Health Expectations*, 20(1), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12449
- Ronson, B., & Rootman, I. (2012). Literacy and health:
 Implications for health and education professionals. In L.
 M. English (Ed.), Adult education and health (pp. 107-122).
 University of Toronto Press.
- Rossman, G. B. & Rallis, S. F. (2003). Learning in the field: An introduction to qualitative research. SAGE.

Rumenapp, J. C., Troiano, B., Adams, M., Moya, J., Lawrence, E., & Razfar, A. (2023). Developing health literacy events: a case study of teachers designing health curricula. *Health Education Journal*, *8*2(6), 651–663. https://doi. org/10.1177/00178969231180371

- Saldaña, J. (2009). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE.
- Shoemaker, S. J., Wolf, M. S., & Brach, C. (2014). Development of the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT): A new measure of understandability and actionability for print and audiovisual patient information. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 96(3), 395–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pec.2014.05.027

Tassi, A., & Ashraf, F. (2008). Health literate doctors and patients: The New York City Health Literacy Fellowship for First Year Medical Students. *Focus on Basics*, 9(B), 3–8. https://www. ncsall.net/fileadmin/resources/fob/2008/fob_9b.pdf

Report from the Field

ELAA Med+: Using a Mock Patient Portal to Address Digital and Health Literacy in a Community-Based Adult ESOL Program

Kate Van Roekel, Elizabeth Studstill, and Edie Lantz Leppert, Literacy Connects

Abstract

In response to high demand from program participants for both health literacy and digital skills support, the Literacy Connects English Language Acquisition for Adults program in Tucson, Arizona, created a mock patient portal (ELAA Med+) for use in their free, community-based, volunteer-taught English language and computer basics classes. Built with readily available web tools, ELAA Med+ is a rich health and digital literacy tool that includes opportunities for adult learners to practice contacting their health care providers, requesting prescription refills, and scheduling appointments in a mock patient portal designed to imitate patient portals used by local Tucson health care providers. This article grounds the mock patient portal project in current health and digital health literacy research, describes best practices for creating and implementing a mock patient portal in a volunteer-taught adult English language and literacy program, and shares lessons learned.

Keywords: health literacy, digital health literacy, patient portal, English language learners

Health literacy and digital health literacy have been shown to profoundly impact health outcomes. The U. S. Department of Health and Human Services' Healthy People 2030 initiative is a set of "data-driven national objectives to improve health and well-being over the next decade" (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion [ODPHP], n.d., n.p.). It defines personal health literacy as "the degree to which individuals have the ability to find, understand, and use information and services to inform health-related decisions and actions for themselves and others" (ODPHP, n.d., n.p.). Individuals with low health literacy are likely to have difficulty accessing, comprehending, and implementing health information, resulting in worse health outcomes when compared with individuals with higher levels of health literacy (Coughlin et al., 2020).

Higher levels of health literacy are associated with higher levels of digital health literacy and access to technology and internet connection. Seidel et al. (2023) define digital health literacy as "the ability to seek, find, understand, and appraise health information from electronic sources and apply the knowledge gained to addressing or solving a health problem" (para. 2). Individuals with higher levels of digital health literacy demonstrate greater confidence and efficacy in managing chronic health conditions and are more likely to access digital health records via patient portals (Seidel et al., 2023). Patient portal use is associated with "better patient-reported outcomes, including increased knowledge and reduced disease-related stress" (Johnson et al., 2023, para. 5). However, patients with lower digital health literacy are less likely to be aware of or use patient portals (Deshpande et al., 2023), which "further exacerbates health care disparities" (Johnson et al., 2023, para. 5).

English language learners (Soto Mas et al., 2013) and people with emerging digital skills (Arias Lopez, et al., 2023) are both likely to have lower levels of health and digital health literacy than the general population. The shift to electronic medical records, online patient portals, and telehealth, accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic (Shaver, 2022), has largely left English language learners and people with emerging digital skills behind, resulting in increasing health care inequity (Chang et al., 2021).

Responding to Student Requests

The COVID-19 pandemic laid bare the many challenges facing Literacy Connects' (LC) adult learners navigating both the U.S. medical system and the digital landscape. As LC pivoted to providing online classes in the early days of the pandemic, it became clear that many students would be left behind if no support was provided for those with emerging digital literacy skills. Simultaneously, students reached out to us – an institution they trusted – with questions about health resources that staff and volunteers felt ill-prepared to answer. One way LC responded was to identify existing resources that could leverage class time to address some of these needs without creating new programming.

Health has always been the most student-requested unit in the English Language Acquisition for Adults (ELAA) curriculum, as the ability to speak to doctors, pharmacists, and first responders in English is a priority for the majority of our adult students. Our program uses the English Unlocked curriculum from Literacy Minnesota. While English Unlocked includes high-quality health literacy units, it does not include support for the digital health literacy skills that surged in importance during the pandemic. In 2021, Literacy Connects received funding from a federal grant in partnership with the Pima County Health Department to improve health literacy in the local Hispanic community. One way this funding was utilized was to send members of the LC staff to the Wisconsin Health Literacy Summit in April of 2022 where we attended a panel titled Patient Portal Practice: Develop Digital Fluency, Build Health Literacy, and Enhance English Language Acquisition (Butteris & Finesilver, 2022). Finesilver shared examples of a model patient portal they had developed for use in their adult English language classes, and LC staff left the panel inspired to do the same.

In alignment with adult learning theory's emphasis on contextualized learning, this new project sought to connect the health literacy skills from English Unlocked to a digital mock patient portal that would provide relevant, timely, and practical opportunities for students to engage with real-world materials. The resulting mock patient portal, ELAA Med+, is designed to be as realistic as possible and to provide a platform for our adult learners to practice navigating a clinic's patient portal website. The ELAA Med+ project sought to help Literacy Connects learners acquire the English language, health literacy, and digital health literacy skills necessary to engage with patient portal platforms, in alignment with three specific Healthy People 2030 objectives:

- Increase the proportion of adults who use IT to track health care data or communicate with providers
- Decrease the proportion of adults who report poor communication with their health care provider
- Increase the proportion of people who say their online medical record is easy to understand (ODPHP, n.d.).

ELAA Med+ was created to teach Adult English language learners how to navigate the actual patient portals used by health care providers. Portal creation took approximately 30 hours and was led by a University of Arizona student intern with no prior experience in web design. He created ELAA Med+ in Google Sites, using real patient portals as models (Figure 1). ELAA Med+ contains many elements that render it so realistic that we received recommendations from pilot users to add multiple disclaimers that the clinic does not actually exist. One key element of that realism is that the English used on ELAA Med+ is not simplified for English learners. The portal also includes all expected features of common portal platforms such as a Meet Our Staff page and a COVID-19 FAQ page (Figure 2). Teachers and students can practice tasks such as scheduling appointments online, requesting a prescription refill, and checking for past-due bills (Figure 3). Ultimately, the mock patient portal centers relevance and respect for our adult learners by recognizing that while students may not understand every word, they have the English language and motivation to make meaning of the portal and take more agency over their health care, even at beginning English proficiency levels.

ELAA Med+ supplements the health units in the English Unlocked curriculum by providing authentic digital health literacy practice. The mock patient portal is intended to expand on the English vocabulary, grammar, and functions that students are introduced to through those lessons. Teachers are provided with a guide of recommended activities (Figures 4-5) that incorporate the mock portal into the English Unlocked health literacy lessons. Different class levels engage with different portal content. In beginning-level ELAA classes, students look for key vocabulary together, emphasizing the digital literacy skill of scanning for information (Figure 4). Students then use this vocabulary to fill out interactive Google Forms such as the Make an Appointment form, which provides contextualized practice with stating basic personal information. Intermediate and advanced-level classes engage with a wider range of portal content. Intermediate teachers have shared that navigating the mock portal together as a class sparks conversations that did not emerge when teaching the same health unit previously. The portal's Our Services tab prompts exploration of differences between preventative, urgent, and emergency care. The Meet Our Staff page leads to a discussion of the U.S. cultural practice of requesting specific doctors (Figure 5).

Use of ELAA Med+ has now expanded beyond the ELAA program into other Literacy Connects programming, including our Computer Basics classes. In the fall of 2022, these classes were contextualized in the area of digital health literacy and used the ELAA Med+ portal to model and practice accessing health care information and services. Students learned about their patient rights, how to choose a doctor, and how to communicate with their doctors via a patient portal. ELAA Med+ was key to one student's success in finding a new health care provider. The class practiced searching for clinics near their homes and used ELAA Med+ to learn how to use an online account. The student went home that day and found a clinic closer to her home. She was able to access her new account, make appointments online, and message her doctor. Practicing with ELAA Med+ in computer class helped her apply her new digital health literacy skills in real life.

Lessons Learned

Literacy Connects volunteer teachers continue to use the ELAA Med+ mock patient portal in their ELAA and Computer Basics classes. Piloting the portal with select classes before rolling out the resource for general use provided important feedback that allowed us to make the portal as realistic as possible. The feedback from pilot users led us to create a teacher's guide, which includes recommended activities differentiated by English proficiency level (Figures 4-5). Because ELAA Med+ is intended to be integrated into the existing English Unlocked health units, we did not create portal-specific lesson plans. A favorite component of the portal has been the embedded interactive forms that allow students to practice messaging a doctor, requesting a refill, or scheduling an appointment. Student responses to the forms go to ELAA program staff who then share them with the teacher. These form responses function as formative assessments, which teachers have greatly appreciated.

Teacher feedback has also highlighted areas for improvement of the portal. In designing the portal, we were unable to replicate the experience of creating an account and logging in. Instead, the website is viewed as if the user is already logged in as "Alex R. Gomez," a fictional account. Teachers have identified the account creation process as one students would like to practice. Similarly, students have requested help with navigating telehealth options. As ELAA Med+ evolves, we hope to integrate account creation and telehealth practice into the portal.

Adult learning theory espouses contextualized learning: the idea that learning is more effective when it is relevant, timely, and practical (Perin, 2011). Authentic tools like ELAA Med+ are needed to provide adult learners opportunities to practice real-world situations that incorporate all of their digital, language, and literacy skills. We encourage institutions serving adult English language and digital skills learners to incorporate patient portals into their curricula. Through the opportunity for realistic, interactive, and contextualized practice, adult students will be more prepared to seek the health care they and their families need with confidence and agency.

Finally, The ELAA Med+ project elucidates the importance of cross-pollination between community-based nonprofit organizations in adult education. Wisconsin Health Literacy organized the 2022 Health Literacy Summit where LC staff were introduced to the vital importance of digital health literacy for our adult English Language Learners and the idea of creating a mock portal for student use. Literacy Minnesota's English Unlocked health literacy units provided the instructional context for integrating digital health literacy. Literacy Connects volunteer teachers and students provided feedback that has led to ELAA Med+'s evolution as a teaching tool. As peer organizations build upon each other's work, we become more effective in serving our learners.

References

- Arias López, M. D. P., Ong, B. A., Borrat Frigola, X., Fernández, A. L., Hicklent, R. S., Obeles, A. J. T., Rocimo, A. M., & Celi, L. A. (2023). Digital literacy as a new determinant of health: A scoping review. *PLOS Digital Health, 2*(10), e0000279. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pdig.0000279
- Buteris, B. & Finesilver, B. (2022, April 5-6). *Patient portal practice: Develop digital fluency, build health literacy, and enhance English language acquisition.* [Conference presentation]. Wisconsin Health Literacy Summit.
- Chang, J. E., Lai, A. Y., Gupta, A., Nguyen, A. M., Berry, C. A., & Shelley, D. R. (2021). Rapid transition to telehealth and the digital divide: Implications for primary care access and equity in a post-COVID era. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 99(2), 340–368. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12509
- Coughlin, S. S., Vernon, M., Hatzigeorgiou, C., & George, V. (2020). Health literacy, social determinants of health, and disease prevention and control. *Journal of Environment and Health Sciences*, 6(1), 3061. https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ articles/PMC7889072/
- Deshpande, N., Arora, V. M., Vollbrecht, H., Meltzer, D. O., & Press, V. (2023). eHealth literacy and patient portal use and attitudes: Cross-sectional observational study. *JMIR Human Factors*, *10*, e40105. https://doi.org/10.2196/40105

- Johnson, K.B., Ibrahim S.A., Rosenbloom S.T. (2023, November 10). Ensuring equitable access to patient portals— Closing the "techquity" gap. *JAMA Health Forum*. https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama-health-forum/ fullarticle/2811772
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (n.d.). Healthy People 2030. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://health.gov/healthypeople
- Perin, D. (2011, April). Facilitating student learning through contextualization. *Community College Research Center*, 39(3), 268-295. https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/ attachments/facilitating-learning-contextualization-brief.pdf
- Seidel, E., Cortes, T., & Chong, C. (2023, October 31). *Digital health literacy*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primer/digital-health-literacy
- Shaver J. (2022). The state of telehealth before and after the COVID-19 pandemic. *Primary Care*, 49(4), 517–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pop.2022.04.002
- Soto Mas, F., Mein, E., Fuentes, B., Thatcher, B., & Balcázar, H. (2013). Integrating health literacy and ESL: An interdisciplinary curriculum for Hispanic immigrants. *Health Promotion Practice*, *14*(2), 263–273. https://doi. org/10.1177/1524839912452736

FIGURE 1: ELAA Med+ Home Page Screenshot



FIGURE 2: ELAA Med+ Meet Our Doctors



FIGURE 3: ELAA Med+ Book Your Appointment



FIGURE 4: Scanning for Key Vocabulary

Topic (+ Notes)	Activities
Patient Portal Vocabulary: Patient Portal Urgent Care Wellness Make an appointment Fill a prescription Pay a bill	 Introducing new vocabulary On slides (separate from the website), show each vocabulary word and talk about what it means with students. Ask for examples (ie: When do you need <u>urgent care</u>? - I'm sick. I have symptoms. I have a fever and a cough. Etc.) Practice using the vocabulary, talk about using the Patient Portal Q&A: What do you need on the Patient Portal? - I need to make an appointment. or I need to pay a bill.
Digital Literacy Vocab that <i>might</i> come up while looking at the website together: Menu Click Search Form (and "submit" a form) Account Home	 Practice using the website Screenshare the website. With students, look for the vocabulary words. (Some things, like urgent care, can only be found if you look in the menus at the top.) Demonstrate moving your mouse around to show the menus. Ask questions like "I need to pay a bill. What do I click on?" We can help lower student stress by reminding them that they don't need to understand every word or all of the grammar on the website! They just need to look for the key word for what they want. Scanning for information like this is an important digital literacy skill (and literacy in general). We very rarely read every word on a website.
	Potential homework*: Have students practice navigating an

FIGURE 5: Choose a Doctor

Choose A Doctor	This is mainly a <u>discussion activity</u> , and is best suited to intermediate or advanced classes.
Sometimes students (especially those new to formal healthcare systems) don't realize they can ask for a specific doctor in advance. It might be as simple as a female patient preferring to see a female doctor, or a patient might want to see someone with a specific specialty (like an Ear, Nose and Throat doctor).	 Which doctor can help me?: Take a look at the "Our Doctors" page together. There are descriptions for each doctor's specialty. Remind students that they don't need to understand every word. Look for words they know and decide what words are important. Digital Literacy Skill: Model using a search engine like Google or Bing to look up one of the acronyms in the doctor's titles. You can then challenge students to look up the rest of them with a group in Breakout Rooms, or for homework.
	 Additional practice: Describe a situation. For example: "Imagine you need to make an appointment. You are having really bad allergies this year. Which doctor should you see?" Help students look at the descriptions and choose. Repeat with other symptoms and/or health problems. You could also put students in groups and have each group talk together to choose a doctor and also decide the <u>reason</u> why they want to see that doctor. When they return to the main room, each group needs to share what the health problem is and which doctor they want to see.

Forum: English Language Learners and Health Literacy

(Part 1 of 3)

Reflections on "Good" Language Learners, "Good" Patients, and Language

Maricel G. Santos, San Francisco State University

If we ask adult English language learners what their goals are for learning English, they are not very likely to say, "I want to be a good English learner," but rather they will tell you what they want to *do* with English, such as to get a better job, to be able to speak for themselves at the doctor's office, to be able to take care of their family's health needs. Similarly, if we ask patients from linguistically minoritized backgrounds what their health goals are, they are not likely to say "I want to be a good patient who speaks good English" but rather they will focus on how they want to feel and what they'll be able to *do* as a patient.

With this Forum essay, I invite much needed dialogue - with adult English language educators, adult learners, and health practitioners – about the way we think about "good language learners," "good patients," and language. I highlight key points of overlap and divergence in debates about "good language learners" and "good patients." I also highlight some examples in health care where untested assumptions about the "good" linguistically minoritized patient can contribute to linguistic inequities and unjust health outcomes. The adult literacy classroom remains one of the most important platforms where we can deepen our understanding of the links between language, power, and health, and ultimately, can disrupt harmful representations of "good patients" in linguistically minoritized communities.

Revisiting the Concept of "Good Language Learner"

In language learning and teaching, we have a decades-long preoccupation with this question: what makes a good language learner (GLL)? Research on GLLs (Naiman et al.,

1978; Oxford, 1990) emphasized that successful language learners exhibit key traits like high motivation, active engagement, and strategic use of learning habits and routines, including self-monitoring and problem-solving gambits, as typified in the list below.

Characteristics of the GLL:

- 1. they are good guessers
- 2. they pay analytical attention to form but also to meaning
- 3. they try out their new knowledge
- 4. they monitor their production and that of others
- 5. they constantly practice
- 6. they cope well with feelings of vulnerability for the sake of putting themselves in situations where they communicate and learn (Rubin, 1975, as cited in Ortega, 2009).

Critics argue that the GLL framework narrowly focuses on individual traits, often assuming that learners who struggle with English are not using the right strategies or not trying hard enough (e.g., Ricento, 2005; van Lier, 2010). More broadly, they contend that the framework ignores power imbalances between learners and speakers, often leaving learners to shoulder the bulk of the communicative labor (Briggs, 2017; Norton & Toohey, 2011). Traits #4 and #6 seem to even valorize the burden that language learners must accept to manage communication breakdowns and remain resilient in their interactions with target language speakers.

Identity theorists offer a compelling counterweight to the GLL framework, directing our focus to the social, cultural, and power dynamics that shape language learning outcomes (Duff, 2002; Motha & Lin, 2014; Norton, 2013). Norton's concept of "investment" provides an alternative to the prevailing focus on individual qualities in this way:

The construct of investment...signals the socially and historically constructed relationship of learners to the target language and their often ambivalent desire to learn and practice it. If learners 'invest' in the target language, they do so with the understanding that they will acquire a wider range of symbolic and material resources, which will in turn increase the value of their cultural capital. Unlike notions of instrumental motivation, which often conceive of the language learner as having a unitary, fixed, and ahistorical 'personality,' the construct of investment conceives of the language learner as having a complex identity, changing across time and space, and reproduced in social interaction. (Norton, 2010, p. 353-354)

In other words, learners are not "good" or "bad" based on their skills, personality, motivation levels, or strategy use, but rather as a result of the social conditions that shape their agency, desires, and access to networks of other language users.

Exploring Perceptions of the "Good Patient"

Now let us turn to perceptions of "good patients" in health care. As an applied linguist, I am attuned to look for ways that language shapes the way we view 'good' patients in a myriad of ways: how patients express trust and engage with their health care providers, how they describe their health care concerns and medical history, how bilingual patients express pain or worry in specific languages, how they demonstrate respect and compliance to the practitioner's recommendations, and more. Just as language learners are often judged based on social expectations and power imbalances, patients also come to be categorized as "good" or "bad" based on their interactions with health care professionals. Kelly and May (1982) have argued that the good/bad labels do not describe patients but rather reflect providers' views about patients.

For example, Sointu (2017) carried out a 2-year interview study with U.S. medical students and grouped the doctor's descriptions of "good patients" under three major themes:

1. "Active participants in their healthcare", "trusts and respects the doctor"

- "Compliant and knowledgeable" "grateful of the care they're receiving"; "Knowing one's medical history"..."honest and upfront"
- 3. "Engenders positive feeling" "you really feel like this is a team effort...The doctor and the patient are working together towards this goal." (pp. 68-69)

Fulfilling these expectations goes beyond just choosing the right words or sharing accurate information; rather it requires that patients use language to navigate social and power dynamics within the health care encounter. As noted earlier, the "good language learner" framework includes the management of emotional labor as a valued trait. The linguistic demands of this emotional labor are evident in Khalil's (2009) survey of 270 nurses working in Cape Town, South Africa. Similar to Sointu (2017) in focus, Khalil (2009) identified five most frequent descriptors, which highlight efforts "good patients" must take to reduce the emotional charge of health care encounters:

- 1. "Friendly and calm most of the time"
- 2. "Accepts help without complaining"
- 3. "Very polite"
- 4. "Always does what he or she is told"
- 5. "Does not make too much fuss" (p. 438)

These descriptors reflect how patients are often expected to manage their behavior to align with health care norms. Similarly, Campbell (2015) found that, in community clinic settings where medical resources (staffing, medicine, medical supplies) may be limited, patients feel compelled to "signal' their goodness and deservingness of treatment or their respect for the medical establishment" (p. 9) when talking to nursing staff. In other words, by getting on the nurses' "good side," the patients felt more assured of their chances of getting better care.

Socioeconomic inequities can shape whether a patient is viewed as "good" or "bad", which providers recognize as a problem but often don't know how to address. For example, in Sointu's (2017) study, a provider commented, "If you can't get yourself the care that the doctor wants you to do, if you don't have money to do that, that unintentionally puts you in the bad patient category" (p. 70). Sointu (2017) also observed that medical students' training often perpetuated harmful stereotypes of "good" and "bad" patients, with few to no opportunities to talk about moral dilemmas and conflicted emotions (e.g., seeing their attending physician roll their eyes upon hearing a "difficult" patient's name).

Studies on "good language learners" and "good patient persona" both tend to focus on perceptions of learners/ patients during spoken interactions, but we have much to learn about how patients navigate social dynamics across modalities, spoken and written, and increasingly, in digital environments via patient portals and telehealth appointments. Martinez (2008) offers a compelling example of Spanish-English bilingual patients who recounted experiences where medical providers offered oral Spanish translations of written English medical directives when no printed materials in Spanish were available. The patients felt that the brief oral translations were merely a "surrogate" for the more detailed written information in English. Martinez argues that the treatment of Spanish as the "non-literate language," i.e., the "deliteracization of Spanish", has both ideological and practical consequences that reflect the "ubiquitous privileging of English literacy" (p. 356) and contribute to "fractured and non-reinforced transmission of health information" (p. 357). What is particularly concerning here is the potential for bilingual individuals to view their 'good patient persona' through the "dominant gaze" (p. 87) of English-based health literacy. What might seem like an effort to provide linguistic access actually reinforces English as the preferred language for health care communication - and thus the only language to enact one's "good patient persona."

To close this exploration of the 'good patient' literature, I'll point out that my efforts to find studies on "good *bilingual* patients" often led to dead ends. The lack of literature in this regard suggests a lack of appreciation for the communicative and emotional labor of bilingual patients (see Briggs, 2017). We need a deeper interrogation of any existing literature and replication studies about the representation of "good" or "difficult" bilingual patients.

What Do Adult English Learners Say About the "Good" Patient?

Thus far, we have looked at how scholars have studied "good" learners and "good" patients from the practitioner perspective. In fact, my personal take-away from two decades of health literacy work in classrooms is that we need to center the voices of learners themselves, as they have much to teach us about the social conditions, specifically the power dynamics in their everyday health care encounters. I'll share an example from a beginninglevel ESL class when our learners read and discussed one of Kate Singleton's (n.d.) ESL Picture Story entitled "A Doctor's Appointment": a man goes to the doctor about stomach pain. After an examination, the doctor offers an explanation with a lot of jargon, and then asks if the man has any questions. The man does not understand but back-channels to the doctor "ok" and "yes". The man does not ask any questions about the diagnosis or the prescriptions he is given. The man goes home, and when his partner asks him, "What did the doctor say?", the man replies, looking exasperated, "I don't know!"

We asked our learners, "why does the man say 'yes' and 'ok' to the doctor?," and their answers reveal an understanding of 'ambivalent desires' to use English (see Norton, 2013) in health care settings. Here's a sampler of what learners shared:

- The man says 'yes' because he respects the doctor.
- The man says 'ok' because he's embarrassed. He doesn't take care of his health.
- If you ask a question then they give you more information in English that you don't understand, so it's better to say ok.
- He's embarrassed to use English to ask more questions.
- He doesn't have time to think about his questions.
- He has a lot of pain so it's hard to think in English. He needs medicine.
- He's worried about the cause for his pain.

Our learners did not characterize the man as unmotivated to speak English. Instead, their answers reveal a discerning view of the man's "ambivalent desires" to speak up (e.g., needing medical care but afraid of being judged). The learners also sympathized with the man's preference for silence over embarrassment. In the learners' answers we also see symbolic resources the man draws upon (e.g., cultural norms about respect before medical authorities) to better position himself to get good care. The learners considered the possibility that the man was so worried about a bad diagnosis that he could not focus on the doctor's explanation, and the doctor's voice just faded to *blah blah blah*. It is easy to understand why the man would *not* be invested in meaning negotiation given that the doctor's jargon-filled lecture makes the information materially useless.

The "Doctor's Appointment" Picture Story invites learners to name unrealistic expectations of "good" patients and interrogate the stigma associated with linguistic minoritization in health care. As evident in the ESL Picture Story example, classrooms are places where learners can practice enacting their linguistic rights as patients and affirm their desire to speak up. In short, our mandate in health literacy pedagogy is not only about closing a gap in English proficiency but also to strengthen their capacity to be heard in health care contexts (Auerbach, 1992; Handley et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2011).

...But, Wait, How Do You Enact Your Linguistic Rights in 18 Minutes or Less?

I would like to briefly address the time constraints that limit effective communication for both patients and providers. When discussing the ESL Picture Story in our classrooms, we did not hear our learners disparaging the doctor; learners recognized that doctors are often stressed and under pressure to see many patients. Indeed, the average length of a doctor's visit is only about 18 minutes (Nephrash, etal., 2023). Visits with an interpreter can last 40-90 minutes (Torresday et al., 2024), although the provision of such linguistic support is not a given.

A physician feeling pressured by time to "get by" without an interpreter using just a few words in the patient's language is less likely to be invested in negotiating meaning, which diminishes the efficacy of the learner's efforts to negotiate as well (see Diamond et al., 2008). On the other hand, if patients feel included in the negotiation of meaning, their sense of legitimacy as a patient is strengthened. We must better understand our learners' efforts to use their English language and health literacy skills within the context of the social conditions (the time pressures, the norms, policies, the relationships) that enable or constrain those efforts. Through interdisciplinary dialogue, adult educators, applied linguists, and heatlh practitioners should critically examine the term "poor historian," a label commonly used in medical charts to describe patients who struggle to provide clear and accurate health information often due to limited language proficiency or low health literacy (Green & Nze, 2017). The perspectives of adult learners and educators are crucial for challenging this stigmatizing language and confronting the social and structural barriers that prevent patients from being heard and understood in clinical settings (see Goddu et al., 2019; Healy et al., 2022).

Pushing Past Labels and Perceptions

An equity-driven response to harmful representations of "good" patients requires a serious respect for language, as explained by my colleague Glenn Martinez: "There is also a need to feel accepted, welcomed, and justly heard in the healthcare encounter. Lack of acceptance leads to mistrust between patients and providers and has the potential to override any gains realized through access.... Perhaps a patient's lack of compliance....is nothing more than a symptom of a lack of trust" (Santos et al., 2023, p. 4).

Access to information and care is a necessary material resource, but language acceptance holds symbolic power, bringing legitimacy to a patient's ability to be heard. Indeed, we have a moral imperative to interrogate our assumptions about "good" language learners and "good" linguistically minoritized patients; that critical inquiry will reveal our commitment to language access and language acceptance. We have yet to fully examine what "good" or even "good enough" communication practices support meaningful access and language acceptance (see Ortega & Prada, 2020). Nor have we sufficiently tapped into the expertise that adult educators and learners can bring to critical reflection on access versus acceptance (Harsch & Santos, 2024).

If we take the constructs of *investment*, *language acceptance*, and *symbolic power* as essential starting points and outcomes in health literacy pedagogy, we are better poised to understand learners' real-world desires and ambivalences. Norton's call for new lines of inquiry suggest we should be pursuing answers to critical questions about learners' investment in English learning and gaining new

health literacy practices: To what extent are health care needs shaping our learners' investment in learning English? How invested is a learner in learning and practicing English in their everyday health care decision-making, and what opportunities do they have to act on this desire? In their health care interactions, when do learners experience an "ambivalent desire" to use English, and what does this look and feel like? What symbolic resources (e.g., increased agency as a patient) and material resources (e.g., a job that comes with health benefits) do our learners value? What kinds of ESL classroom practices do learners invest in because they see the value of these practices to their ability to live well and stay well? We need a coordinated research agenda - which includes sustained investment of time and resources into adult education partnerships - that addresses these questions if we are to better understand the relationship between language learning, health literacy, and patient agency.

Conclusion

In this essay, I have explored perspectives on "good language learners" and "good patients" to draw attention to the ways our expectations of "good" are shaped by social conditions as well as assumptions about language and language users. Left unchecked, these biases about 'goodness' can contribute to linguistic inequities and unfair health outcomes. Like many ALE readers, I still believe the classroom offers a place for us to act on our commitment to learner empowerment as a meaningful learning outcome. The voices and stories of linguistically minority learners/patients can educate us about the material access to resources and symbolic recognition our learners value. Indeed, we have a moral imperative to interrogate our assumptions about "good" language learners and "good" linguistically minoritized patients; that critical inquiry will reveal our commitment to language access and language acceptance.

- Auerbach, E. (1992). Making meaning, making change: Participatory curriculum development for adult ESL literacy. Center for Applied Linguistics. https://eric. ed.gov/?id=ED356688
- Briggs, C. (2017). Towards communicative justice in health. Medical Anthropology, 36(4):287-304. https://doi.org/10.1080 /01459740.2017.1299721
- Campbell, C., Scott, K., Skovdal, M., Madanhire, C., Nyamukapa, C., & Gregson, S. (2015). A good patient? How notions of "a good patient" affect patient-nurse relationships and ART adherence in Zimbabwe. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *15*(1), 404–404. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-015-1139-x
- Diamond, L. C., Schenker, Y., Curry, L., Bradley, E. H., & Fernandez, A. (2009). Getting by: Underuse of interpreters by resident physicians. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *24*(2), 256–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-008-0875-7
- Duff, P. (2002). The discursive co-construction of knowledge, identity, and difference: An ethnography of communication in the high school mainstream. *Applied Linguistics, 23,* 289-322.
- Goddu, P., O'Conor, A., Lanzkron, K.J., Saheed, S., Saha, M.O., Peek, S., Haywood, Jr., M.E., & Beach, M. C. (2018). Do words matter? Stigmatizing language and the transmission of bias in the medical record. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 33(5), 685–691. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-017-4289-2
- Green, A.R., & Nze, C. (2017). Language-based inequity in health care: Who is the "poor historian"? *AMA Journal of Ethics*, *19*(3), 263-271. https://doi.org/10.1001/ journalofethics.2017.19.3.medu1-1703
- Handley, M. A., Santos, M. G., & Bastías, M. J. (2022). Working with data in adult English classrooms: Lessons learned about communicative justice during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(1), 696. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20010696
- Harsch, S., & Santos, M. G. (2024). Are we overlooking language?
 An applied linguistics perspective on the role of language as a social determinant of health. In P. Ortega, G. Martínez, M. Lor, & A. S. Ramírez (Eds.), The handbook of language in public health and healthcare (Chapter 1). https://doi. org/10.1002/9781119853855.ch1
- Healy, M., Richard, A., & Kidia, K. (2022). How to reduce stigma and bias in clinical communication: a narrative review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 37(10), 2533-2540. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-022-07609-y
- Kelly, M. P., & May, D. (1982). Good and bad patients: A review of the literature and a theoretical critique. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 7(2), 147–156. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.1982.tb00222.x

- Khalil, D. D. (2009). Nurses' attitude towards 'difficult' and 'good' patients in eight public hospitals. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, *15*(5), 437–443. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-172X.2009.01771.x
- Martinez, G. (2008). Language-in-healthcare policy, interaction patterns, and unequal care on the U.S.-Mexico border. *Language Policy, 7*(4), 345–363. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10993-008-9110-y
- Motha, S., & Lin, A. (2014). "Non coercive rearrangements": Theorizing desire in TESOL. *TESOL Quarterly*, 48(2), 331-359. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.126
- Naiman, N., Frohlich, M., Stern, H., & Todesco, A. (1978). *The good language learner*. Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Neprash, H.T., Mulcahy, J.F., Cross, D.A., Gaugler, J.E.. Golbserstein, E., & Ganguli, I. (2023). Association of primary care visit length with potentially inappropriate prescribing. *JAMA Health Forum*, 4(3):e230052. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamahealthforum.2023.0052
- Norton, B. (2010). Language and identity. In P. N. H. Hornberger, & D. S. L. McKay (Eds.), *Sociolinguistics and language education* (pp. 349-369). Channel View Publications.
- Norton, B. (2013). *Identity and language learning: Extending the conversation*. Multilingual Matters.
- Norton, B., & Toohey, K. (2011). Identity, language learning, and social change. *Language Teaching*, 44(4), 412-446. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0261444811000309
- Ortega, L. (2009). Understanding second language acquisition. Hodder Education.
- Ortega, P., & Prada, J. (2020). Words matter: Translanguaging in medical communication skills training. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 9(4), 251-255. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40037-020-00595-z
- Oxford, R. L. (1990) Language learning strategies: What every teacher should know. Newbury House.
- Ricento, T. (2005). Considerations of identity in L2 learning. In E. Hinkel (Ed.), *Handbook of Research on Second Language Teaching and Learning* (pp. 895-891). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Santos, M. G., McClelland, J., & Handley, M. (2011). Language lessons on immigrant identity, food culture, and the search for home. *TESOL Journal*, 2(2), 203–228.
- Santos, M., Showstack, R., Martínez, G., Colcher, D., & Magaña, D. (2023). *Health disparities and the role of the applied linguist*. Routledge.

- Singleton, K. (n.d.). Picture stories for adult ESL health literacy. Center for Applied Linguistics. http://www.cal.org/caela/ esl_resources/Health/
- Sointu, E. (2017). 'Good' patient/'bad' patient: Clinical learning and the entrenching of inequality. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 39(1), 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.12487
- Torresdey, P., Chen, J., & Rodriguez, H. P. (2024). Patient time spent with professional medical interpreters and the care experiences of patients with limited English proficiency. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 15, 21501319241264168. https://doi.org/10.1177/21501319241264168.
- Van Lier, L. (2010). Forward: Agency, self and identity in language learning. In B. O'Rourke & L. Carson (Eds.), Language learner autonomy: Policy, curriculum, classroom. A festschrift in honour of David Little (pp. ix–xviii). Peter Lang.

Forum: English Language Learners and Health Literacy

(Part 2 of 3)

Response to Santos' "Reflections on 'Good' Language Learners, 'Good' Patients, and Language"

Richard Orem, Northern Illinois University (emeritus)

In her reflection piece, Santos invites a "much-needed dialogue about the way we think about 'good' language learners, 'good' patients, and language." Dialogue about what makes for "good" language learners can be found in the literature dating back more than 50 years. But combining dialogue on this topic with a discussion of what makes for "good" patients among health care providers is more recent. In responding to her invitation, I have had a chance to reflect on my own experiences relevant to this dialogue which should also give the reader some context for my comments.

I spent more than four decades in the language teaching profession, starting as a Peace Corps volunteer in 1970 and retiring from university teaching in 2011 where I focused my efforts on ESL teacher education and adult education. A good number of my students were adult ESL teachers, so my interest was in identifying those characteristics of adult learners which made for more effective instruction. But early in this period of my professional life, while working on my doctoral degree in adult education, I directed a health education project for a community-based organization which trained health educators to work with low-income populations in northeast Georgia. Quite coincidentally, my lead health educator was also a former Peace Corps Volunteer/ESL teacher. So, we often shared stories of common interest and related our Peace Corps volunteer experiences to the work of health education in low-income communities in rural Georgia. It was at this same time that northeast Georgia began to welcome refugees from southeast Asia, particularly Vietnam, following the end of the Vietnam War in 1975. I became involved with their resettlement by offering English language classes coordinated by a state-funded education service region with offices on the University of Georgia campus.

My training to teach English in the Peace Corps was rooted in audio-lingual methodology which was popular in the 60s, but my sudden exposure to working with refugees came at a time when competency-based instruction was becoming popular in adult literacy education, and workplace, or content-based instruction was becoming more relevant in English language education. In other words, during this early part of my career, adult ESL moved from an emphasis on language learning as an end, to language learning as a means for life skills development. So, the issue that Santos addresses, what makes for good language learners as explored by Rubin (1975), was a fairly novel idea in those early years, but became a core concept since then. The characteristics of good language learners that Rubin identified were very similar to those characteristics of good reading identified concurrently by psycholinguists in the field of reading (Smith, 1971). And even from the beginning of this period, how language is used in various contexts became a topic of great debate among English language educators who were working with immigrant populations. It certainly forced me to make significant changes in my approach to language teacher preparation as I studied more about what makes for good language learners. The key to this change was how we look at language, not as an end in itself, but as a means to more effective communication within various contexts of life skills development, whether that be in the workplace, in the community in general, or at the doctor's office in particular. The fact that Santos is inviting a dialogue on this topic in 2025 would indicate that we are still having this debate. Perhaps that focus needs to shift to how we prepare those professionals providing health care to immigrant populations.

Part of the impetus over these last 50 years for the significant shifts in how we view language and language learning has been the significant changes in the demography of this country, especially among adult English language learners. And health care is a great example of how these changes in demography have impacted the discussion of English language teaching in North America. Thus, Santos' invitation to dialogue on these various topics has never been more relevant.

Santos' discussion of characteristics of the "good language learner: reminded me of those emerging conversations as the field of teaching English to speakers of other languages was developing an identity of its own. A quick glance at the dates of those early publications would confirm that these conversations were happening in those rich years of the 1970s when so much research activity was focused on second language learning, and not so much on language itself. Early research by Rubin (1975) and Krashen (1981) helped language teacher educators shift our focus to context-based language learning. Creative approaches to language teaching included Total Physical Response and competency-based approaches which shifted the focus of instruction from grammar, the hallmark of audio-lingual methodology popular in the 50s and 60s, to actual use of language in the 70s and beyond. In short, the teaching of language was shifting to meaningbased approaches, and away from the rote memorization and pattern practice popular in audio-lingual methods.

Santos goes on to draw from the work of Bonny Norton, a Canadian researcher who has written extensively on the subject of language and identity, including a focus on the concept of "investment" by the language learner and the fact that motivation does not predict successful language learning. Anyone who has worked with adult ESL learners, especially those who are recent immigrants to the United States, realize that though motivation to learn English may be high, the fact is that the adult learner has multiple roles which inhibit effective language learning. Relevant to Santos' discussion, recent immigrants cannot necessarily wait until they have mastered the language before they need medical care. Health care providers have increasingly recognized this dilemma by providing language interpretation services upon request. But individual practitioners, such as primary care physicians, may not have access to these services, thus leading to the asymmetrical power relationships that occur in

everyday encounters between patient and provider. These examples of asymmetrical power relationships are not limited to bilingual populations. As Santos points out, doctors, especially primary care providers, have become increasingly stressed by patient loads and restrictions of insurance to limit interactions to 18 minutes. And without proper training, those health care providers will not recognize the limitations of their interactions by patients who aren't confident to advocate for themselves.

This discussion of motivation to learn to use language in a health care setting has been made more concrete for me by the personal example of a young Honduran woman, a single mother of a severely handicapped child, who made the arduous trip overland from Honduras to our Southern border carrying her then 2-year-old child in hopes of finding the medical care that would help to improve her child's life circumstances. I have been part of a local community which has reached out to help her find the resources she needs, including health, legal, and educational. In spite of living in the States for 3 years now, and navigating the health care and legal systems with the help of these local volunteers, her growth in English language ability has been minimal. Although her motivation to learn English may be high, her primary focus is on her daughter and the overwhelming challenges she faces. In this regard she has proven herself to be an effective advocate for her daughter's care.

How will health care providers respond to increasing language diversity within our immigrant population? Medical schools cannot be expected to train the next generation of doctors to be bilingual. But they could recruit more bilingual applicants to their programs. This could also include more internships in community health clinics that serve immigrant populations. And medical training programs (for doctors and nurses) could include more cultural sensitivity training. I know this is happening to some degree. I provided workshops to a large nursing training program in the Chicago area on cross-cultural sensitivity, so I know there is an awareness of these issues. Given the technical language in the health professions, and the challenges of language learning in the immigrant communities, I agree with Santos' characterization of adult literacy classrooms as places of transformation. But to make the adult literacy classroom a place of transformation is to understand the nature of communication. It means that adult ESL instructors need to be more aware of

the language structures and vocabulary that would be relevant to help learners interface with health providers. It also means that health care providers need to be more aware of the two-way nature of this communication. A key component of understanding the nature of communication, as Santos rightfully points out, is to also examine those notions of what makes for a "good" language learner and a "good" patient.

Santos concludes her remarks by referencing several participatory/problem-posing curricular resources that were published more than 20 years ago. The

question remains how have teacher education programs incorporated these materials in preparing teachers who work with adult English learner populations, and to what degree can such instructional approaches be part of the critical health literacy research agendas that partner teacher education with health care provider preparation, important questions for sure. Overcoming the challenges of depending on a largely part-time volunteer population to staff adult ESL programs will be critical in moving us forward to a better understanding of what it means to be a good language learner, and a good patient.

References

Krashen, S. D. (1981). Second language acquisition and second language learning. Pergamon.

- Rubin, J. (1975). What the "good language learner" can teach us. *TESOL Quarterly*, 41-51.
- Smith, F. (1971). Understanding reading. Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.

Forum: English Language Learners and Health Literacy

(Part 3 of 3)

Health Literacy Access: A Shared Responsibility

Clarena Larrotta, Texas State University

Access to health literacy does not just mean obtaining and retrieving information but the ability to acquire that information in ways that make sense to the patient, in this case the adult English language learner (ELL). Santos does an excellent job of presenting the issue of the good patient and the good language learner, my effort here will be to amplify and expand on some of her points.

Health literacy access also involves understanding health literacy resources and how to use them (Shashikiran et al., 2023). Specific skills are required to obtain, understand, and use health information through verbal communication, not just through written materials (Muscat et al., 2017). In other words, ELL patients should possess functional health literacy skills (e.g., basic oral skills), communicative health literacy skills (e.g., advanced skills to extract information about options, benefits, and harm), and critical health literacy skills (e.g., critical skills to reflect on information such as being able to integrate knowledge with personal preferences to make informed decisions) to be able to have full access to health literacy (Muscat et al., 2017). Considering this broader view of what health literacy access entails will add to the discussion regarding the interconnected nature between the good learner, the good patient, and language as presented by Santos (2025). Specifically, the present article focuses on discussing shared responsibility to acknowledge the distinct and complementary roles that adult education programs, adult educators, ELL patients, health organizations, and health professionals have in making health literacy access successful.

As stated by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the 2020 definition of health literacy encompasses personal and organizational levels of involvement. *Personal health literacy* is defined as the "degree to which individuals have the ability to find, understand, and use information and services to inform health-related decisions and actions for themselves and others" (CDC, 2024, n.p.). In contrast, organizational *health literacy* is the "degree to which organizations" equitably enable individuals to find, understand, and use information and services to inform health-related decisions and actions for themselves and others" (CDC, 2024, n.p.). This updated definition acknowledges the need for shared responsibility from part of the ELL patient and the health care system (health organizations and professionals). Furthermore, this definition of health literacy emphasizes "the individual's ability to use health information rather than just understand it, while acknowledging that organizations also have a responsibility to actively address health literacy" (English, 2022, p. 101). Health organizations have a responsibility to address health literacy and health equity, "the attainment of the highest level of health for all people, so that everyone has the opportunity to be as healthy as possible" (CDC, 2024, n.p.). The following paragraphs present a brief overview of how adult education programs, ELL patients, health organizations, and health professionals can work together and contribute to making health literacy access a real possibility.

Regarding the responsibilities of the ELL patient, it is expected that they stay informed, be critical, and keep up with technology. However, to master these skills, ELLs should be able to participate in health literacy instruction that equips them with the strategies and skills required to succeed in modern times (e.g., high level communication skills, computer skills, digital literacy knowledge, telehealth skills, skills for artificial intelligence usage, cybersecurity skills, etc.). There is a crucial need for creating up-to-date, federally funded, programs and curricula that support the development of adequate health literacy skills of adult ELLs. As an example, the Step One Curriculum for older immigrants in Amherst, Massachusetts, provides access to beginning-level English language instruction that meets older learner needs (Weintraub, 2025). Similarly, the Health in the English Language course in Anchorage, Alaska, is an intervention program addressing health information, reporting medical conditions and symptoms, understanding health insurance, nutrition, mental health, first aid, dentistry, vaccinations, and medications (Shashikiran et al., 2023). Transferring best practices from these and similar health literacy programs designed for ELLs is crucial to be able to offer adult education opportunities that are relevant and ongoing throughout the United States.

Likewise, health organizations and health professionals should keep in mind "health literacy best practices" such as the "use of plain language, use of customer preferred language and communication channels, and use of cultural and linguistically appropriate language" (CDC, 2024, n.p.) when creating health literacy materials and when communicating with ELL patients. The language of health and medicine is complex and, in many ways, learning it is similar to learning a second language. As English (2022) suggests, health care providers must ensure that written materials (handouts, brochures, and web sites) do not create barriers for the many patients who have little to no background knowledge on health-related topics (p. 101). Health literacy best practices will benefit ELL patients and native English speakers equally. English (2022) addresses the importance of providing patient-centered care through using adequate interpersonal communication (ensuring patient comprehension), showing empathy (relating to the patient's situation and experiences), and practicing active listening. As English (2022) states, "health literacy skills are affected by age, education, income, health insurance status, and first language [English] acquisition" (p. 101). Health care organizations must become aware of the benefits and overarching need for easier access to health literacy. The health care experience is equally intimidating to all populations, older adults, individuals with disabilities, ELL patients, and native-English speakers.

It is crucial to promote different formats of communication and offer patient-centered care that goes beyond written health materials, as to include support for better verbal communication, technology, and telehealth usage. For example, in Australian adult education settings, Muscat et al. (2017) implemented a health literacy program for adults with low literacy levels to help them develop skills to talk to health care providers and share health decisions. Muscat and colleagues describe the range of health literacy skills needed for communication and decision-making and present a model in which verbal skills are an important part of health literacy. "This model positions 'listening' and 'speaking' as distinct health literacy skills for the verbal exchange between the patient and health professional" (Muscat et al., 2017, p. e258). In this view, the ELL patient should be aware of their right to contribute to the health care consultation and participate in decision making concerning their own treatment and care. As Muscat et al. (2017) state, this asset approach to health literacy "recognizes efforts to improve functional, communicative, and critical health literacy" (p. e259), integrates shared decision-making, and raises critical consciousness to overcome obstacles to good health. According to these researchers, program participants reported new appreciation of the right to participate in decision-making, increased assertiveness, and self-efficacy for health consultations. Muscat et al. (2017) recommend facilitating verbal skill development across the domains of functional, communicative, and critical health literacy, influencing ELLs' attitudes toward question-asking by positioning it as a consumer right, and presenting decision-making as a joint venture between patients and providers. Health literacy programs should adopt a similar approach empowering ELLs to be proactive patients who can discuss medical recommendations, critically reflect on the medical information and advice received, and participate in health care decision-making.

In a shared responsibility approach to health literacy, community health partnerships between universities and literacy programs are useful to promote experiential learning opportunities beneficial to both ELL patients and future health professionals. For instance, Gao et al. (2022), report on Health in the English Language, a partnership delivering two virtual health literacy courses to adult ELLs: "Pre-health undergraduates gain insight into the importance of communicating with and advocating for non-native English speakers" (Gao et al., 2022, p. 33). Based on a needs assessment conducted to design the program, the topics covered in the courses included going to the doctor, what to do in emergencies, healthy eating and exercise, medication safety and use, and

health insurance. In addition, course activities included "student-led discussions, dialogues, vocabulary learning, practice questions such as reading medications or nutrition labels, writing activities, and games" (Gao et al., 2022, p. 35). The health literacy researchers found that although convenient, online teaching and learning posed challenges due to disparities in technology access. For example, having access to a computer did not mean that the learners had adequate digital literacy skills or were able to use basic software features such as typing in the chat when participating in the virtual class. Another important finding from Gao et al (2022) is that the learners participating in the health literacy courses had differing levels of understanding about the U.S. health care system and some did not even have insurance. In addition, they reported that the pre-health studentinstructors learned about the importance of grasping the cultural dimension of health to best support non-native English speakers, communicate with them, provide a safe space, or advocate for them. The study by Gao et al. (2022) described the reciprocal nature and benefits of implementing community health partnerships.

To conclude, it is important to continue to explore the issue of shared responsibility further to make sure that ELL patients and native-English speakers are able to access health literacy regardless of their individual conditions (e.g., older adults, individuals with disabilities, ELL patients, and native-English speakers). Adult education programs, ELL patients, health organizations, and health professionals play important and complementary roles making health literacy access possible. Health organizations and health professionals should be mindful of incorporating health literacy best practices so as to not create extra access barriers for ELL patients and other vulnerable populations. More than ever, adult education programs and health organizations should work towards narrowing the digital literacy gap affecting marginalized populations. Modern times require the use of digital media platforms to find, evaluate, and communicate information, but this new approach can contribute to creating barriers to health literacy access. Likewise, critical health literacy should be nurtured in adult education programs to make sure that ELL patients behave as inquisitive health participants and informed consumers. There is a crucial need to create more programs and curricula focusing on health literacy and as part of the regular offerings in adult education programs. In addition, community health partnerships between universities and adult literacy programs should proliferate instead of being offered as sporadic research studies conducted by a handful of interested researchers. Achieving health literacy and health equity should be a goal and a shared responsibility.

References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2024). What is health literacy? https://www.cdc.gov/health-literacy/php/ about/?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/healthliteracy/ learn/index.html
- English, K. (2022). Guidance on providing patient-centered care. Seminars in Hearing, 43(2), 99-109. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0042-1748834
- Gao, A., Kuwahara, L., & Shaw, B. (2022). Best practices for health literacy education of English language learners. *Georgetown Scientific Research Journal*, 3(1), 32-43. https:// doi.org//10.48091//gsr.v3i1.55
- Muscat, D. M., Shepherd, H. L., Nutbeam, D., Morony, S., Smith, S. K., Dhillon, H. M., Trevenal, L., Hayen, A., Luxford, K., & McCaffery, K. (2017). Developing verbal health literacy with adult learners through training in shared decisionmaking. *HLRP: Health Literacy Research and Practice*, *1*(4), e257-e268. https://doi.org/10.3928/24748307-20171208-02

- Shashikiran, S., Mendoza, J., Facklam, A., & Riley, J. B. (2023). Promoting health literacy among adult ELLs virtually during COVID-19. *Health Promotion Practice*, *24*(3), 588-592. https://doi.org/10.1177/15248399221086871
- Santos, M. G. (2025). Reflections on "good" language learners, "good" patients, and language. *Adult Literacy Education: The International Journal of Literacy, Language, and Numeracy*, 7(2), 39-44. http://doi.org/10.35847/ MSantos.7.2.39
- Weintraub, L. (2025). Grandma needs English, too. *Adult Literacy Education*, 7(1), 37-41. http://doi.org/10.35847/LWeintraub.7.1.37

Digital Literacies for Digital Health Realities

By Jill Castek, University of Arizona and Tyler H. J. Frank, Clark College, University of Arizona

This research digest addresses digital health literacies, demonstrating the important role that adult basic education instructors can play in supporting learners to adapt to a changing digital world. We structure this review by first examining the relationship between the internet and health. We then discuss the digital health information landscape offering some definitions. We go on to describe four components of digital health literacies and close the review by linking research and practice, offering implications for adult education.

Internet and Health

Internet access is nearly universal for highly educated individuals with at least a moderate income (Pew Research Center, 2024). Demographic groups such as seniors, those with fewer years of formal education, and low-income individuals have less digital access (Federal Communications Commission, n.d.; Tappan et al., 2022). They may require more support in navigating the digital landscape to manage their health. Limited internet access can exacerbate existing health disparities. Therefore, internet access is considered a super determinant of health (Seick et al., 2021).

Digital access alone is not sufficient to acquire digital health literacies. The demands of digital health systems require flexible digital literacies and digital health literacies. Digital literacies include the ability to find, evaluate, understand and use digital information and digital tools (American Library Association, 2013), and digital health literacies contextualize these skills within an online health context (Fitzpatrick, 2023; Norman et al., 2016). Due to the evolving nature of online texts, contexts, tools, and networks for meaning making, we refer to these literacies in their plural form. Digital health literacies play an important role in health outcomes. Accessing health information online is one of the main reasons individuals use the internet (Di Novi et al., 2024). For example, learning options for staying healthy, maintaining wellness, and managing health care appointments and prescriptions are but a few areas where digital health literacies are important. However, not all online health information is easy to navigate, interpret, or comprehend. Organization, density, and use of hyperlinks to other resources, among other navigational characteristics, can make health concepts more difficult for the general public with average reading ability to grasp (Daraz et al., 2019). Adults need support to develop the skills that are necessary for navigating online health contexts, giving rise to an instructional call to action.

Defining Terms

In the fast-paced, complex, and ever-changing digital landscape, no single set of definitions is sufficient nor universally adopted. In the sections that follow, we offer definitional starting points, recognizing there are obvious overlaps across terms.

Digital skills refer to the use of devices like a computer, tablet or phone for tasks such as finding and using information online, understanding how to be safe and responsible online, communicating socially and professionally using email, messaging and social media (Digital Resilience in the American Workforce [DRAW], 2022). However, digital skills alone are not all that is needed to navigate the complexities of digital health literacies. Digital fluency, the ability to successfully move with ease in and across digital environments, is also important.

Digital problem solving refers to the nimble use of skills, strategies, and mindsets to navigate online using

novel resources, tools, and interfaces in flexible ways to accomplish goals (Jacobs & Castek, 2018). Collaboration can serve to support digital problem solving when learners participate together and learn a range of strategies.

Digital resilience is referred to as an essential mindset which involves having the awareness, skills, agility, and confidence to be empowered users of new technologies and adapt to changing digital skill demands (DRAW, 2022; Digital US Coalition, 2020). Resiliency improves confidence to problem-solve, navigate digital contexts, and engage in tasks that involve critical thinking. Individuals need multiple opportunities to develop digital problem solving and resilience within and beyond health care. These learning aims are an important extension of digital health literacies and are not gained without support.

Adult learners need the opportunity for contextualized instruction (Jurmo & Mortrude, 2020; Perin, 2011) specifically within online health settings. Teaching digital health literacies means moving beyond the basic functions of web browsers or the steps for using a search engine. Teaching digital skills, strategies, and mindsets should be embedded within broader health situations. By exploring online health information with support, instructors can provide contextualized, just-in-time instruction.

Components of Digital Health Literacy

Castek et al. (2021) conducted a study to examine adults' digital health literacies knowledge and challenges. They designed nineteen scenario-based tasks situated in everyday health contexts in the areas of: (a) navigating online health resources, (b) critical evaluation of online information, and (c) internet safety and security. The scenarios presented real-life situations where critical evaluation, the management of interfaces, and use of digital tools were applied. Results indicated that regardless of age or education level, 93% of participants scored below the minimum competency threshold, with the lowest scores on tasks that required critically evaluating online health information. These findings suggest that many people struggle with digital health literacies and need support and guidance to acquire and apply them.

Drawing on this pattern of results, in combination with

findings from our work examining adults' digital problemsolving strategies (Jacobs & Castek, 2018, 2022) we identified four components of digital health literacies: (a) navigating online health resources, (b) checking the reliability of information, (c) managing interfaces and digital tools, and (d) learning digital problem solving. Planning instruction in these areas, and offering contextualized guided practice, can support adult learners in gaining facility with these important skills. In the sections that follow, each of the components is described and anchored to research.

Navigating Online Health Resources

While the use of digital technologies has been broadly associated with being informed, the complexity of navigating online health resources that are unbiased and reliable is challenging. Daraz et al. (2019) found the quality of online health information was not consistently excellent. Internet health resources require careful examination to determine high quality from low quality information, which could have harmful consequences on health.

Determining whether health information is relevant in a given situation involves reading widely to gain knowledge about health, examining multiple sources of information and determining who is an expert, and locating trustworthy sources. About 85 million internet users take online health advice without assessing the quality of the content found on the internet, which can affect the doctor-patient relationship (Luo et al., 2022).

Navigating health concerns requires facing novel challenges, which are enhanced by the need to understand medical terminology. Moreover, ensuring their data privacy and troubleshoot technical issues are also important learning aims.

Checking the Reliability of Health Information

Unreliable claims about health are everywhere online and shared widely by friends, family, news media, and commercial interests. Many of these health claims about products and services are unsubstantiated but many adults may lack the skills needed to evaluate them. The ability to critically evaluate online health information requires attention to the content of the information, the presentation of ideas, and determination of who is considered an expert (Hegeman et al., 2024). Developing a critical mindset involves paying attention to relevancy, accuracy, reliability, source credibility, and commercial bias (Coiro, 2015). Checking reliability requires questioning stances found in texts (Korona, 2020), reading laterally to corroborate claims using multiple sources (Breakstone et al., 2021), and analyzing health resources to look for effects of commercial bias (Peñafiel-Saiz et al., 2024). Critically evaluating information becomes even more essential when navigating across numerous interfaces and tools to access health information and health care systems. These vital aspects of digital health literacies should be folded into adult education.

Managing Interfaces and Digital Tools

Adult learners not only face the challenge of evaluating the health information they find online but also must navigate a plethora of interfaces and digital tools, including search engines and AI chatbots (Sun et al., 2023). Kim et al., (2023) argue that navigating interfaces are part of the core competencies of digital health literacies.

Management of interfaces and digital tools involves working through tasks systematically while remaining focused on the end goal, keeping in mind ethics and safety, and utilizing networks for continued learning and support. Given the dynamic and ever-changing digital health world, with the constant rise of new platforms and information, adults need support to learn and practice digital health literacies (Harris et al., 2019; Paige et al., 2018).

Learning Digital Problem Solving

Merga (2024) found that adult learners need to acquire specific knowledge, skills and attitudes to work with data, digital information, and digital technologies. Our work in digital problem solving (Jacobs & Castek, 2018) engages learners in situations they have not encountered in the past where they need to problem solve in the dynamic and ever-changing setting of the online world. Learning digital problem-solving means learning-how-to-learn in an evolving digital world. Adapting to evolving digital contexts requires flexibility in the face of challenges that abound online such as maintaining safety and security of private health information. Jacobs and Castek (2022) demonstrate that working in collaboration with more knowledgeable peers can be important for individuals with limited access and skills in using digital tools.

Implications: Research-Based Pedagogies

Building on the foundations described in this research review, we encourage practitioners to support digital health literacies by situating instruction and practice in meaningful, real-life contexts. The need for contextualized practice across the four areas described above can be accomplished through a variety of approaches to instruction. We organize these approaches within three research-based pedagogies, each of which recognizes literacies as a social practice (Barton et al., 2005) and views learning as socially mediated (Lin et al., 2016).

Collaborative Learning

Van Laar et al. (2017) define collaboration as the ability to use digital technology to develop a social network, work in a team to exchange information, and make decisions to achieve a common goal. When teaching adult learners how to navigate online health resources, collaborative learning a beneficial approach to learning from one another (Johnson et al., 1998). Collaborative learning emphasizes the importance of working in groups, building on the strengths of all members, and valuing the lived experiences of adult learners. Structuring collaborative learning invites learners to bring their background knowledge and experiences to bear while evaluating health information, exploring websites and interfaces, learning digital tools, and problem solving with digital health resources found online.

Teaching learners in the dynamic and expansive digital world brings challenges and new situations in which to problem solve. Collaborative learning leverages the diverse knowledges and perspectives of all learners working together as they navigate websites, resources, and interfaces. Learners can support each other in recognizing navigational features, exploring potentialities, and making strategic choices. Opening up space for working collaboratively can help learners develop investigative abilities to track sources and corroborate claims as they read laterally (McGrew, 2020). Additionally, open discussions encourage learners to share real-world applications and strategies that help develop critical skills for evaluating online information (Jacobs & Castek, 2022).

Community-Based Adult Education

Community-based adult education (European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training, 2014) emphasizes the importance of working with adult learners in the context of their communities. It builds on the strengths of those communities to solidify connections. Sui and Facca (2020) argue for the importance of developing digital health instructional materials in collaboration with community members, emphasizing the importance of local relevance, for example in rural communities.

Teaching digital health literacies provides adult learners with the knowledge and skills they need to address the specific issues and challenges they face in their communities. Engaging community members, such as community health workers, in the process of developing instructional materials allows for an authentic focus on learners' relevant health concerns. Surfacing these concerns provides space for learners to voice their experiences and make connections to their lives.

Co-Teaching

Co-teaching emphasizes the importance of teachers working together to support the diverse needs of a wide range of adult learners (Friend & Cook, 2009). Co-teaching reflects a shift towards decentralized and participatory learning models and can be a useful approach for planning instruction for digital health literacies. The flexibility and collaboration of co-teaching encourages instructors to better meet students where they are, which is especially important given the multiplicity of skills, settings, and decisions involved in navigating digital health literacies. Co-teaching empowers diverse learning approaches and provides many opportunities for just-in-time learning. Moreover, co-teaching supports learners in ways that are responsive to their needs. A useful resource to build on is *The Library Toolkit for Addressing Health Misinformation* (San Diego Circuit, 2023). Not only do these activities offer guidance for avoiding misinformation, but they also include editable versions of handouts. Learners can edit and expand the examples in the materials. During learning projects, adults can further develop these materials, engaging in editing digital documents and learning digital tools to communicate about health misinformation.

Learn more: https://libguides.sdsu.edu/librarytoolkit-addressing-health-misinformation

Conclusion

In closing, adult educators know and understand their learners' backgrounds and are skilled in designing responsive instruction. The areas of digital health literacies outlined in this review are not simple to learn or teach but hold significant potential to impact the lives of adult learners. While research findings provide general guidance, our advice for educators is to find ways to engage the diverse backgrounds, knowledge, and abilities of learners (Ladson-Billings, 1994). By drawing on adult learners' knowledge and experiences, educators can create contextualized digital health literacies learning that forges personal connections for learners with meaningful life impacts.

Adult basic education educators are making great strides in learning with and from their students, but these efforts are sometimes overlooked largely because the work is not often published in peer-reviewed journal articles (Santos et al., 2019). The challenges adult learners face in navigating and learning digital health literacies are an imperative that calls for continued knowledge sharing among adult educators.

References

- American Library Association. (2013). ALA Task Force releases digital literacy recommendations. https://www.ala.org/ news/2013/06/ala-task-force-releases-digital-literacyrecommendations
- Barton, D., Hamilton, M., & Ivanič, R. (2005). *Situated literacies: Reading and writing in context.* Routledge.
- Breakstone, J., Smith, M., Connors, P., Ortega, T., Kerr, D., & Wineburg, S. (2021). Lateral reading: College students learn to critically evaluate internet sources in an online course. *Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review, 2*(1), 1–17 https://doi.org/10.37016/mr-2020-56
- Castek, J., Harris, K., & Reeder, J. (2023). Digital problem-solving in adult learning: Issues in healthcare contexts. In M. Santos (Chair), Digital and data literacies in health: What adults learners know, learn, and do. Health Literacy Annual Research Conference. https://tinyurl.com/HARC2023.
- Coiro, J. (2015). Purposeful, critical, and flexible: Vital dimensions of online reading and learning. In R. J. Spiro, M. DeSchryver, M. Schira Hagerman, P. M. Morsink, & P. Thompson (Eds.), *Reading at a crossroads?: Disjunctures and continuities in current conceptions and practices* (pp. 53-64). https:// digitalcommons.uri.edu/education_facpubs/67
- Digital US Coalition (2020). *Building a digitally resilient* workforce: Creating on-ramps to opportunity. https:// digitalus.org/download/.
- Daraz, L., Morrow, A. S., Ponce, O. J., Farah, W., Katabi, A., Majzoub, A. Seisa, M. O., Benkhadra, R., Alsawas, M. Prokop, L., & Murad, M. H. (2018). Readability of online health information: A meta-narrative systematic review. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 33(5), 487-492. https://doi. org/10.1177/1062860617751639
- Daraz, L., Morrow, A. S., Ponce, O. J., Beuschel, B., Farah, M. H., Katabi, A., Alsawas, M., Majzoub, A. M., Benkhadra, R., Seisa, M. O., Ding, J., Prokop, L., & Murad, M. H. (2019). Can patients trust online health information? A metanarrative systematic review addressing the quality of health information on the internet. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 34, 1884–1891. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05109-0
- Di Novi, C., Kovacic, M., & Orso, C. E., (2024). Online health information seeking behavior, healthcare access, and health status during exceptional times, *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 220, 675-690, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jeb0.2024.02.032.
- Digital Resilience in the American Workforce. (2022). *Findings* from a national landscape scan on adult digital literacy instruction. https://publications.worlded.org/WEIInternet/ inc/common/_download_pub.cfm?id=25284&lid=3

- European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (2014). Community-based adult learning in Europe. Publications Office of the European Union. https://www. cedefop.europa.eu/en
- Federal Communications Commission. (n.d.). Advancing broadband connectivity as a social determinant of health. https://www.fcc.gov/health/SDOH
- Fitzpatrick, P. J. (2023). Improving health literacy using the power of digital communications to achieve better health outcomes for patients and practitioners, *5*, 1264780. *Frontiers of Digital Health*. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fdgth.2023.1264780
- Friend, M., & Cook, L. (2009). *Interactions: Collaboration skills for school professionals* (5th ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- Harris, K., Jacobs, G., & Reeder, J. (2019). Health systems and adult basic education: a critical partnership in supporting digital health literacy. *HLRP: Health Literacy Research and Practice*, *3*(3), S33-S36. https://doi.org/10.3928/24748307-20190325-02.
- Hegeman, P.C., Vader, D.T., Kamke, K., & El-Toukhy, S. (2024). Patterns of digital health access and use among US adults: A latent class analysis. *BMC Digital Health*, 2(42). https://doi. org/10.1186/s44247-024-00100-0
- Jacobs G., & Castek, J. (2022). Collaborative digital problem solving: Power, relationships, and participation. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy*, 65(5), 377-387.
- Jacobs, G. & Castek, J. (2018). Digital problem solving: The literacies of navigating life in the digital age. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy*, *61*(6), 681-685.
- Johnson, D. W., Johnson, R. T., & Smith, K. A. (1998). Cooperative learning returns to college: What evidence is there that it works? *Change*, 30(6), 26-35.
- Jurmo, P., & Mortrude, J. (2020). Contextualizing adult education: Learning from six decades of experience and research. ProLiteracy. https://www.proliteracy.org/wpcontent/uploads/2023/07/2020-09_PL-Research-Brief-4_ Contextualizing.pdf
- Korona, M. (2020). Evaluating online information: Attitudes and practices of secondary English Language Arts teachers. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, *12*(1), 42-56. https://doi. org/10.23860/JMLE-2020- 12-1-4
- Kim, J., Livingston, M. A., Jin, B., Watts, M., & Hwang, J. (2024). Fundamentals of digital health literacy: A scoping review of identifying core competencies to use in practice. *Adult Learning*, 35(3), 131-142. https://doi. org/10.1177/10451595231178298

- Ladson-Billings, G. (1994). The dreamkeepers: Successful teachers of African American children. Jossey-Bass.
- Lin, C., Hou, H., & Tsai, C. (2016). Analyzing the social knowledge construction and online searching behavior of high school learners during a collaborative problem-solving learning activity: A multi-dimensional behavioral pattern analysis. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, *25*(5–6), 893–906. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-016-0317-y
- Luo A, Qin L, Yuan Y, Yang Z, Liu F, Huang P, & Xie W. (2022). The effect of online health information seeking on physician-patient relationships: Systematic review. *Journal* of Medical Internet Research, 24(2), e23354. https://doi. org/10.2196/23354.
- McGrew, S. (2020). Learning to evaluate: An intervention in civic online reasoning. *Computers & Education*, *145*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103711
- Mein, E., Fuentes, B., Soto Mas, F. & Muro, A. (2013). Incorporating digital health literacy into adult ESL education on the US-Mexico border. *Journal of Rhetoric, Professional Communication, and Globalization,* 3(1), 162-174.
- Merga, M. K. (2024). TikTok and digital health literacy: A systematic review. *IFLA Journal*, https://doi. org/10.1177/03400352241286175
- Norman C., & Skinner H. (2006). eHealth Literacy: Essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. *Journal* of Medical Internet Research, 8(2), e506. https://doi. org/10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9
- Paige, S. R., Stellefson, M., Krieger, J. L., Anderson-Lewis, C., Cheong, J., & Stopka, C. (2018). Proposing a transactional model of eHealth literacy: Concept analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(10):e10175. https://www.jmir. org/2018/10/e10175/
- Perin, D. (2011, April). Facilitating student learning through contextualization. Community College Research Center, 39(3), 268-295. https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/ attachments/facilitating-learning-contextualization-brief.pdf

- Pew Research Center (2024). Americans' use of mobile technology and home broadband. https://www.pewresearch. org/internet/2024/01/31/home-broadband-mobileacknowledgments/
- Peñafiel-Saiz, C., Echegaray-Eizaguirre, L., & Perez-de-Arriluzea-Madariaga, A. (2024). The impact of biases on health disinformation research. *Societies*, *14*(5), 64. https://doi. org/10.3390/soc14050064.
- Santos, M. G., & Paasche-Orlow, M. K. (2019). Special supplement: Health literacy and adult basic education. *Health Literacy Research and Practice*, 3(3 Suppl), S88–S90. https://doi.org/10.3928/24748307-20190909-01
- Sieck, C. J., Sheon, A., Ancker, J. S., Castek, J., Callahan, B., & Siefer, A. (2021). Digital inclusion as a social determinant of health. *NPJ Digital Medicine*, *4*(1), 52. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41746-021-00413-8
- Sui, W. & Facca, D. (2020). Digital health in a broadband land: The role of digital health literacy within rural environments. *Health Science Inquiry, 11*(1) 140-143. https://doi.org/10.29173/ hsi294
- Sun, G., & Zhou, Y. (2023). Al in healthcare: navigating opportunities and challenges in digital communication. *Frontiers in Digital Health, 5*, 1291132. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fdgth.2023.1291132
- Tappen, R. M., Cooley, M. E., Luckmann, R., & Panday, S. (2022). Digital health information disparities in older adults: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 9(1):82-92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00931-3
- van Laar, E., van Deursen, A., van Dijk, J., & de Haan, J. (2017). The relation between 21st-century skills and digital skills: A systematic literature review. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 577–588.

Book Review

Review of Career Pathways in Adult Education: Perspectives and Opportunities

Jim Berger, Georgia College & State University

Career Pathways in Adult Education: Perspectives and Opportunities, edited by Catherine H. Monaghan, E. Paulette Isaac-Savage, and Paul G. Putman is a wellwritten book that showcases the dynamic field of adult education, the myriad concepts and theories that support it, and various careers and pathways one can embrace.

The authors have put together a strong resource that can be used for newcomers to the field, learning about the underpinnings that make success possible or as a mid-career professional looking for a change. Readers will find the organization and writing of this book easy to understand and meaningful as they work their way through it. The editors appear to have been intentional in identifying contributing authors and inviting experts within their respective subdomain of adult education.

The book is written in two major sections. Part I focuses on skills needed to be successful in adult

needed to be successful in adult education and includes foundational knowledge from the general field. These concepts include a field overview, skills for teaching adults, facilitation skills, steps for successful program planning, how to evaluate and assess the success of adult education efforts, and necessary technology skills and applications for engaging in the education of adults. Part II is a collection of chapters from individuals in various disciplines of the adult education field. The format of these chapters usually starts with a personal description of the unique paths the author took to get into an adult education career followed by the day-today activities they conduct in their jobs. Many include specific skill sets, competencies, and credentials needed



to be successful. Some chapters use callout boxes highlighting tips for being successful in the particular subfield. Other chapters include ways to advance in a specific adult education career.

In support of their personal experiences, authors provide additional information about the theories and practices used and the relevant connections to adult education. While the authors do not provide extensive explanations of the concepts of a theory, they do provide enough of a description to get the basic understanding and then provide citations and references to explore further, if

needed. Some chapters provide needed competencies and directions for being successful in that particular subfield of adult education. Still others include trends in the subfield and resources for locating tools and job opportunities. What is helpful in each of the chapters of Part II is that they focus on that particular subfield and provide the reader with unique insights of the career they

Monaghan, C. H., Isaac-Savage, E. P., & Putnam, P. G. (Eds.). (2024). Career Pathways in Adult Education: Perspectives and Opportunities. Routledge. 272 pages. \$55.99 (paperback). ISBN: 9781032195278

are exploring. Readers will be able to see themselves in several of the chapters and have a better understanding of the varied paths that can be taken to become a professional in adult education.

This book will be helpful for students studying adult education as a potential career and needing a foundation of the various adult education contexts. Additionally, this book will be helpful to instructors looking to teach these concepts to developing adult educators. The editors have included voices from 17 practitioners and researchers who provide their direct experiences and the paths they took to enter and grow in the field. As developing adult educators seek to understand what it is like to work in the various careers identified and described, having that personal narrative will support their investigation into the nooks and crannies of the field. The chapter authors do an excellent job articulating the day-to-day experiences and the seminal resources they use to be successful.

Readers of the book will find the personal experiences resonate with actual experiences of other practitioners in the discipline and the connection of these experiences to the citations and literature to be a meaningful way of gaining a clearer picture of the vast and changing domain of adult education. The structure of the book is organized and takes an intuitive approach to laying out various career paths in the line of work. While the reader could read the book from front to back, they may find it useful to start with the first six chapters and then seek out specific chapters related to careers they would like to explore. The last chapter helps to tie it all together and explains how to use the information from the book to better understand the possible careers that one can pursue and how this resource can be used for instructors, students, and researchers.

The editors have put together a strong resource that can be used in a variety of ways. Rarely have I seen a book focusing on career paths in adult education and certainly not put together in the manner of the editors'. The use of personal experiences combined with updated citations and references to research and literature makes this book a meaningful resource to keep on one's desk to explore the vast roles and actions of champions working in adult education. Finally, this resource provides the reader and the field a way to view the preparation of adult educators for the work they will do and a strong understanding of the linkages between the professionals they work with and why they do the work they do. http://doi.org/10.35847/AEchelberger.7.2.62

Resource Review

abc English

Andrea Echelberger, Robbinsdale Adult Academic Program in Minnesota



During my time in adult education classrooms working with adult English language learners (ELL), many of whom were attending school for the first time in their lives while also learning to speak in a brand-new language, I spent countless hours searching online for worksheets and handouts that were not covered with teddy bears and dinosaurs. Eventually, like so many adult English teachers, I gave up and spent even more of my limited prep time creating original resources from scratch. While working as a teacher trainer, the online resource abc English was recommended to me by teaching colleagues; however, I did not dig deeply into the site until I returned to the classroom in 2021. I greatly appreciate the abc English resources because they take the guesswork out of teaching systematic phonics and provide level- and topic-appropriate texts for adult learners. Moreover, the materials are well-designed and easy to use. Jennifer Christenson, the site's creator and author, has drawn upon her long-time classroom and training experience to develop effective, clear, and well-researched materials that can be easily incorporated into online, in-person, or hybrid instruction.

The abc English resource library contains a wide array of tools for teachers and tutors that include:

- teacher training resources that demonstrate how to use the materials
- assessment tools for beginning ELL literacy learners
- slideshows on systematic phonics, vocabulary, and easy English grammar
- home language resources (Spanish, Swahili, Kinyarwanda, and Somali)
- citizenship materials
- decodable texts, easy readers, and reading skills stories
- phonics-based flashcards, handouts, and classroom posters

All of the online library content is available to paid subscribers as Google slides through the site or as PDFs that can be downloaded and printed. An individual license costs \$25 for three months, or \$90 per year, and group licenses for 5 or more teachers are available for \$6 a month per teacher. Potential subscribers can sign up for a free 30-day trial to explore whether the materials are the right fit for learners. Print copies of the abc English phonics books Levels 1-4, the reading skills stories, and decodable readers are available to order. The teacher training resources, home language materials, assessment tools, and full online previews of the print books are always available for free.

Assessment

abc English is the most comprehensive classroom resource that I have encountered for teaching reading to learners who have had no or limited print literacy in any language. This website offers an extensive collection of materials specifically designed for educators who work with adult and adolescent emergent readers who are also developing English. The site provides valuable tools and, importantly, also outlines the methodology I was looking for to incorporate systematic and explicit phonics instruction into reading instruction. It breaks down the components of reading into manageable pieces for beginning readers and offers resources for building fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension, not phonics alone. Critically, the topics on abc English are of high value to English learners with immigrant and refugee backgrounds through building vocabulary and phrases as well as integrating common sight words. Among the topics in the reading skills stories are family life, paying bills, taking the bus, and working. The easy English readers feature discrete components of phonics and vocabulary, as well as listening tasks to build up verbal and print familiarity with core language learning topics such as shopping, food, and emotions.

In my multilevel literacy class, learners of all levels benefit from the focused practice on phonics rules and patterns. The more advanced learners appreciate the explanations of the "why" behind the spelling rules, and the beginning literacy learners thrive on the explicit and methodical phonics instruction. Once a week, an in-person volunteer works with a group of beginning literacy students using one of the Level 1 phonics lessons. Together, the group reviews vowel sounds, sounds out words with the target sounds, practices cumulative blending, and writes as the tutor dictates sentences and short words. I use these same materials when I am teaching without a volunteer, expanding the phonics activities with Tier 2 academic words that use the targeted sound patterns to challenge and engage the more advanced learners as we move through the lesson.

In my English Level 1-2 class, an online volunteer leads a reading group in a breakout room with several online learners, working with them on a reading skill story from the abc English resource library. The learners have a print copy of the reading packet in front of them, and the volunteer takes them through the accompanying slide show, providing each learner in the small group multiple opportunities to sound out words, identify word patterns, and read out loud. In addition, one of the learners who is preparing for the citizenship test gets pulled out twice a week by a volunteer to work on the 100 civics questions and the reading and writing portions of the test with the abc English citizenship resources, which are appropriately leveled for a beginner including with clear visuals, simple language, and several ways to review.

What's the best thing about abc English? For me, it is the thoroughness and predictability of the resources which enable my volunteers to walk in the door and jump into teaching. I do not need to spend 15 minutes meeting with them before they begin to explain the materials and activities. Everything the volunteers need is ready and waiting for them, and they are able to maximize their time working with learners. This means that I do not spend hours preparing and adapting materials, which frees up my limited prep time.

Of course, adult learners have unique needs and experiences; no single curriculum or resource is able to provide all of the information that immigrants and refugees need to navigate a new culture and language successfully. Verbal skills and oral vocabulary provide the foundation that literacy skills are built upon, so it is essential that teachers bring in multiple opportunities to practice developing speaking and listening skills to supplement any phonics and reading resource. Learners also need the opportunity to apply the decoding skills they are learning to authentic texts that they encounter outside of the classroom (e.g., receipts, signs, notes from their child's school). They also need opportunities to produce original writing. While the abc English phonics materials are beautifully scaffolded and systematic, the open enrollment nature of many adult education programs means that teachers have to decide how to

regularly revisit previously introduced material so that learners who are new to the class are not lost. Fortunately, the materials are easy to retrieve and review, and even experienced readers benefit from the repetition of basic phonics concepts.

Recommendations

The resources on abc English can function as standalone lessons and as a supplement to existing curriculum. They can also provide opportunities for extensive reading. The materials on this site are valuable for novice and experienced teachers alike. In particular, programs that use volunteer tutors to deliver instruction will find the ready-to-use slideshows with their step-bystep teacher instructions a welcome addition to their curriculum, especially since proven literacy and language teaching practices such as scaffolding, repetition, practicing skills in a variety of ways, and using highquality visuals are expertly woven into the materials and activities. While abc English requires a paid yearly subscription, the fact that its resources are constantly being updated and added to means that they remain relevant and fresh. abc English is definitely worth a closer look for any teacher who is teaching reading and English to adults who are new to both.

Technology and Adult Learning

ReadWorks: Unlocking Literacy for Adult Learners

Vi Hawes, VH Ed Tech Consulting, LLC & Pima Community College

What is ReadWorks?

ReadWorks is an online educational platform designed to enhance reading comprehension and literacy skills, primarily in K-12 education. It offers a vast repository of reading materials, including articles, stories, and comprehension questions tailored to various grade levels and reading abilities. By utilizing evidence-based practices, ReadWorks supports differentiated instruction, allowing teachers to cater to the diverse needs of their students (Tare & Shell, 2019). Its user-friendly interface and extensive resources create a more interactive and effective learning experience (Fithriyah, 2021). While its primary audience is K-12

educators and students, the platform's principles and tools can also be adapted for adult education.

Features

ReadWorks offers a range of features that make it an effective tool for literacy instruction. The platform provides a comprehensive library of reading passages across various subjects, including science, social studies, and literature, which can be filtered by grade level and reading complexity. Built-in comprehension questions and vocabulary support accomplish each passage, enabling educators to assess understanding and promote critical

FIGURE 1



thinking (Fithriyah, 2021). Additionally, ReadWorks incorporates research-based tools aimed at addressing learner variability, such as audio supports, split-screen viewing for simultaneous access to texts and questions, text magnification, guided reading strips, paragraph numbering, and annotation tools like highlighting and note-taking (Tare & Shell, 2019) (Figure 1). These features are grounded in learning sciences research and are designed to scaffold students' reading experiences by bolstering strengths and mitigating challenges like working memory limitations or attention difficulties (Figure 2). Teachers can create customized assignments tailored to specific learning objectives or individual student needs while tracking progress over time through the platform's analytics tools (Tare & Shell, 2019) (Figure 3). Additionally, ReadWorks integrates seamlessly with digital platforms like Google Classroom, making it easier for educators to distribute assignments and manage student performance. These features collectively enhance the teaching and learning process by providing flexible and accessible tools for educators to implement effective literacy instruction.

FIGURE 2: Split Screen Feature



FIGURE 3

Assignmen	ts & Progress	ESOL 71 👻			
Assignments Cla	ass Book of Knowledge	Reading Mindset Snapshot	Student Progress		
Overall Reading Passages Paired Text Article-A-Day					
January 👻					
Students	Nonfiction Passages Rea	Literary d Passages Read	Library Passages Read	Total Passages Read	
Example Student	1 (317 Words)	0 (0 Words)	0 (0 Words)	1 (317 Words)	

How ReadWorks Addresses Teaching Challenges in Adult Education

ReadWorks, while primarily designed for K-12 education, offers features and methodologies that can be adapted to address the unique challenges of adult education. Adult learners often face obstacles such as limited time availability, lack of motivation, and the need for practical, real-world applications of learning (Rosa et al., 2022). The platform's emphasis on differentiated instruction allows educators to assign texts based on individual reading abilities, accommodating the diverse literacy backgrounds of adult learners. Furthermore, its extensive library of nonfiction texts can be tailored to align with adult learners' interests or career goals, making the content more relevant and engaging.

One of the critical challenges in adult education is the disconnect between classroom content and students' lived experiences. Many adult learners find traditional methodologies infantilizing or irrelevant to their personal and professional needs (Rosa et al., 2022). ReadWorks addresses this issue by offering customizable assignments that enable educators to select materials that resonate with learners' realities. Additionally, digital tools like text-to-speech functionality and vocabulary support help bridge gaps for English as a Second Language (ESL) learners or those with limited literacy skills (Oyebamiji & Ezeala, 2024).

The platform also supports flexible access, allowing learners to engage with materials on their own schedules–a critical feature for adults balancing work or family responsibilities. By integrating technology into its instructional approach, ReadWorks aligns with the digital literacy demands of the 21st century, equipping learners with skills essential for navigating today's informationdriven world (Oyebamiji & Ezeala, 2024). These features collectively make ReadWorks a valuable resource for addressing the methodological and practical challenges faced in adult education settings.

Real-Life Applications of ReadWorks

The adaptability of ReadWorks makes it a versatile tool for various educational contexts, particularly in adult education. Here are some practical applications:

- Workforce Development Programs: Adult learners can use the platform to improve literacy skills essential for job applications, understanding training manuals, and workplace communication.
- **GED Preparation:** Educators can assign nonfiction texts to help learners develop the critical reading and comprehension skills required for GED exams.
- **Community Literacy Programs:** Libraries and community organizations can leverage ReadWorks to provide underserved populations with access to reading materials that support literacy improvement.
- **ESL Classes:** The text-to-speech functionality helps ESL learners improve pronunciation, fluency, and comprehension skills.
- **Hybrid or Remote Learning:** The platform's digital format allows adult learners to access materials anytime, making it ideal for flexible learning environments.

By incorporating ReadWorks into these practical applications, educators can promote literacy as a foundation for lifelong learning while addressing the unique needs of adult learners.

Benefits of Using ReadWorks

ReadWorks offers numerous benefits that make it a valuable resource for enhancing literacy skills. One of its most significant advantages is its extensive library of high-quality reading materials, which are aligned with educational standards and designed to engage learners across various age groups. The platform promotes active learning through interactive features such as comprehension questions and vocabulary exercises, encouraging learners to think critically about the texts they read (Figure 4). Additionally, ReadWorks supports differentiated instruction by allowing educators to tailor assignments to meet the diverse needs of their students, whether they are K-12 learners or adults with varying literacy levels. The ability to track student progress through built-in analytics further enhances its utility, enabling teachers to identify areas for improvement and provide targeted support. By fostering critical thinking, promoting engagement, and offering tools for personalized instruction, ReadWorks serves as a powerful resource for improving literacy outcomes and cultivating a love for reading.

FIGURE 4

 Hijo de inmigrantes: El inventor The Inventors of YouTube ▶ 0:00 / 3:10 - ● € ③ Speed 	Full Express ① Show/Hide All Answers			
	1. What is YouTube? ⊲≫ Answer			
	A. a website that sells homemade products I			
	B. a website with videos created by different people ⊲»			
	C. a website where you can order groceries			
	(1))			
	D. a website where you can play video games \triangleleft			
	2. The text draws a comparison between the ages Answer			
	and first jobs of Chen, Hurley, and Karim. What is			
	contrast in? ⊲»			
	A. the countries where they were born and spent their childhood years ${\mathfrak A}$			
If you've ever watched a video on the internet before, chances are you've	B. the companies their parents worked at when they were			

Challenges of Using ReadWorks

Despite its many strengths, implementing ReadWorks comes with several challenges. However, each challenge can be addressed with thoughtful strategies to maximize the platform's potential:

1. Limited Adult-Specific Content

Most of the resources on ReadWorks are designed for K-12 students, which may not align with the interests or life experiences of adult learners. This mismatch can make the content feel less relevant or engaging for adults. To address this, educators can adapt existing materials by selecting nonfiction texts that resonate with adult learners' goals, such as workplace literacy or GED preparation. Additionally, incorporating supplemental resources specific to adult education can help bridge this gap. Leverage adaptive learning systems, which dynamically modify content to suit individual learners' abilities and knowledge levels, could also enhance personalization and relevance for adults.

2. Digital Divide

Not all learners have access to the Internet or devices needed to use ReadWorks effectively, particularly those from financially marginalized communities. This digital divide creates barriers to equitable access and participation (Kumar Nigam, 2024). Strategies to address this issue include providing offline access to materials by downloading and printing resources for learners without reliable connectivity. Community organizations and libraries can also play a role by offering access to devices and internet services. Additionally, government policies and private partnerships could fund digital infrastructure and technology initiatives in underserved areas (Kumar Nigam, 2024).

3. Professional Development Needs

Teachers may require additional training to effectively use ReadWorks and adapt its K-12 oriented materials for adult learners. Professional development programs focused on integrating EdTech tools into adult education contexts are essential. These programs should include hands-on workshops that demonstrate how to customize assignments, track progress using analytics, and facilitate discussions that promote deeper engagement with texts. Tailored professional development models that address varying levels of teacher experience–such as peer mentoring for novice educators–can also enhance confidence and instructional effectiveness.

4. Instructional Dependence

The success of ReadWorks depends heavily on how well educators facilitate discussions and activities that promote critical thinking and engagement with texts. Without effective instructional strategies, learners may struggle to fully benefit from the platform's resources. To mitigate this challenge, educators should focus on fostering interactive learning environments where students actively engage with the material through group discussions or reflective exercises. Incorporating principles–such as scaffolding tasks based on cognitive science insights–can further enhance comprehension and retention for adult learners.

Conclusion

ReadWorks is a powerful tool that enhances literacy instruction through its extensive library of resources and interactive features. While it was originally developed for K-12 education, its adaptability makes it a valuable asset in adult education as well. By addressing challenges such as varying literacy levels and time constraints through differentiated instruction and flexible access, ReadWorks empowers educators to meet diverse learner needs. However, limitations like lack of adult-specific content and potential technology barriers must be considered. With proper adaptation and support for educators, ReadWorks has the potential to transform literacy education across age groups.

- Fithriyah, N. (2021). Fostering students' positive attitude towards reading comprehension through ReadWorks. In M. Hidayati, Y. Basthomi, F. M. Ivone, N. Ariani, & A. Tohe (Eds.), *Proceedings of the International Seminar on Language, Education, and Culture (ISoLEC 2021)* (pp. 236-241). Atlantis Press. https:// doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.211212.044
- Kumar Nigam, A. (2024). Digital divide and financially marginalized communities: Strategies for implementation of NEP 2020. *International Journal For Multidisciplinary Research, 6*(2). https://doi.org/10.36948/ijfmr.2024.v06i02.14909
- Oyebamiji, P.M., & Ezeala, D.J. (2024). Digital literacy and its implications for sustainable adult education in the 21st century. *International Journal of Research and Innovation in Social Science*, 8(1), 92-98. https://dx.doi.org/10.47772/ IJRISS.2024.801008

- Rosa, A.H., Santos, F.W., Nascimento e Silva, D., & Barros, M.M. (2022). Main methodological challenges faced by youth and adult education (EJA) teachers. *REVES - Revista Relações Sociais*, 5(4), 15091-01e. https://doi.org/10.18540/ revesvl5iss4pp15091-01e
- Tare, M., & Shell, A. (2019). Designing for learner variability: Examining the impact of research-based edtech in the classroom. Digital Promise Global. https://doi. org/10.51388/20.500.12265/81